
 

 

Service Director – Legal, Governance and 
 

Commissioning 
 

Julie Muscroft 
 
Governance and Commissioning 
 

PO Box 1720  
 

Huddersfield 
 

 

HD1 9EL 
 

Tel: 01484 221000  
 

Please ask for: Yolande Myers 
 

Email: yolande.myers@btinternet.com  
 

Date: 9 January 2024  
 

Notice of Meeting 
 
Dear Member 
 

West Yorkshire Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

The West Yorkshire Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee will 

meet in the Virtual Meeting - online at 10.30 am on Tuesday 16 January 
2024. 
 
The items which will be discussed are described in the agenda and there are reports 
attached which give more details. 
 
 

 
 

Julie Muscroft 
 

Service Director – Legal, Governance and Commissioning 
 
 
Kirklees Council advocates openness and transparency as part of its democratic 
processes. Anyone wishing to record (film or audio) the public parts of the meeting should 
inform the Chair/Clerk of their intentions prior to the meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack

mailto:yolande.myers@btinternet.com


 

 

 
 

Member 
Councillor Elizabeth Smaje (Chair) 
Councillor Colin Hutchinson - Calderdale Council (Deputy Chair) 
Councillor Beverley Addy – Kirklees Council  
Councillor Caroline Anderson - Leeds Council 
Councillor Andrew Scopes - Leeds Council 
Councillor - Rizwana Jamil - Bradford Council 
Councillor Allison Coates - Bradford Council 
Councillor Howard Blagbrough - Calderdale Council 
Councillor Andrew Lee - North Yorkshire County Council 
Councillor Andy Solloway - North Yorkshire County Council 
Councillor Betty Rhodes - Wakefield Council 
Councillor Kevin Swift - Wakefield Council 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

Agenda 
Reports or Explanatory Notes Attached 

 

 
  Pages 

 

1:   Membership of the Committee 
 
To receive apologies for absence from those Members who are 
unable to attend the meeting. 
 

 
 

 

2:   Minutes of Previous Meeting 
 
To approve the Minutes of the Meeting held on 23 November 2023.  
 

 
 

1 - 8 

3:   Declarations of Interest 
 
Members will be asked to say if there are any items on the Agenda 
in which they have any disclosable pecuniary interests or any other 
interests, which may prevent them from participating in any 
discussion of the items or participating in any vote upon the items. 
 

 
 

9 - 10 

4:   Admission of the Public 
 
Most agenda items take place in public. This only changes where 
there is a need to consider exempt information, as contained at 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. You will be 
informed at this point which items are to be recommended for 
exclusion and to be resolved by the Committee. 
 

 
 

 

5:   Deputations/Petitions 
 
The Committee will receive any petitions and/or deputations from 
members of the public. A deputation is where up to five people can 
attend the meeting and make a presentation on some particular 
issue of concern. A member of the public can also submit a petition 
at the meeting relating to a matter on which the body has powers 
and responsibilities. 
 
In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 10, Members of the 
Public must submit a deputation in writing, at least three clear 
working days in advance of the meeting and shall subsequently be 

 



 

 

notified if the deputation shall be heard. A maximum of four 
deputations shall be heard at any one meeting. 
 

 
 

6:   Public Question Time 
 
To receive any public questions.  
 
In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 11, the period for the 
asking and answering of public questions shall not exceed 15 
minutes.  
 
Any questions must be submitted in writing at least three clear 
working days in advance of the meeting. 
 

 
 

 

7:   Harmonisation of Commissioning Policies 
 
The Committee will receive an update from representatives from the 
NHS West Yorkshire Integrated Care Board on the harmonisation of 
clinical policies.  
 
Contact: Yolande Myers, Principal Governance Officer 
Yolande.myers@kirklees.gov.uk  01484 221000. 
 

 
 

11 - 14 

8:   West Yorkshire Urgent Care - Service Review 
 
The Committee will receive an update from representatives from the 
NHS West Yorkshire Integrated Care Board on a review of the West 
Yorkshire Urgent Care (WYUC) Service. 
 
Contact: Yolande Myers, Principal Governance Officer 
Yolande.myers@kirklees.gov.uk  01484 221000. 
 

 
 

15 - 54 

9:   Non-Surgical Oncology - Programme Update 
 
The Committee will receive an update from representatives from the 
NHS West Yorkshire Integrated Care Board on a programme review 
of non-surgical oncology.  
 
Contact: Yolande Myers, Principal Governance Officer 
Yolande.myers@kirklees.gov.uk  01484 221000. 
 

 
 

55 - 92 

mailto:Yolande.myers@kirklees.gov.uk
mailto:Yolande.myers@kirklees.gov.uk
mailto:Yolande.myers@kirklees.gov.uk


 

 

10:   Agenda Plan 2023/24 
 
The Committee will consider the 2023/24 forward agenda plan. 
 

 
 

93 - 94 

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

Contact Officer: Yolande Myers or Laura Murphy  
 

KIRKLEES COUNCIL 
 

WEST YORKSHIRE JOINT HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

Thursday 23rd November 2023 
 
Present: Councillor Elizabeth Smaje (Chair) 
 Councillor Colin Hutchinson - Calderdale Council 

Councillor Beverley Addy 
Councillor Caroline Anderson - Leeds Council 
Councillor Andrew Scopes - Leeds Council 
Councillor - Rizwana Jamil - Bradford Council 
Councillor Allison Coates - Bradford Council 
Councillor Howard Blagbrough - Calderdale Council 
Councillor Andrew Lee - North Yorkshire County Council 
Councillor Andy Solloway - North Yorkshire County 
Council 
Councillor Betty Rhodes - Wakefield Council 
Councillor Kevin Swift - Wakefield Council 

  
 

1 Membership of the Committee 
All Member were present. 
 

2 Minutes of Previous Meeting 
The minutes of the meeting held on 10 August 2023 were approved as a correct 
record. 
 

3 Declaration of Interests 
No interests were declared. 
 

4 Admission of the Public 
All items were considered in public. 
 

5 Deputations/Petitions 
No deputations or petition were received.  
 

6 Public Question Time 
No questions were asked.  
 

7 West Yorkshire Urgent Care Service Review Introduction 
The Committee heard that the West Yorkshire Urgent and Emergency Care (UEC) 
Programme recently carried out a refresh to establish priorities which reflected both 
the strategic intention of the West Yorkshire Integrated Care Board (ICB), and 
national guidance such as the ‘Delivery Plan for the Recovery of Urgent and 
Emergency Services’. One of the identified priorities was to carry out a review of the 
West Yorkshire Urgent Care (WYUC) Service.  
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



West Yorkshire Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee -  23 November 2023 
 

2 
 

The contract and services within WYUC had grown organically throughout the 
length of the contract. The service review would provide an opportunity to explore 
potential opportunities, improve efficiencies and make changes to benefit local 
people. 
 
Jon Parnaby, the Urgent Care lead from the Mid Yorkshire Trust but speaking on 
behalf of West Yorkshire ICB presented his report.  The Committee noted that this 
was a service review, not a contract review and not a provider review. The contract 
started ten years ago for GP out of hours emergency service, and it had grown 
organically since then. 
 
The Committee was advised that the contract value was £28m and this was the first 
time that this service had been reviewed. It was also the first review of this type 
being undertaken by West Yorkshire ICB.  
The Committee noted that the review had been broken down into three 
workstreams: 
 

 Workstream 1 - GP Out of Hours Services 

 Workstream 2 – Clinical Advice Service 

 Workstream 3 – Everything else that has been added to urgent treatment 

services such as staff training in Leeds and Safe Haven in Calderdale and 

Kirklees. 

The Committee heard that the aim was to have completed the review by March 
2024.  The approach adopted was to develop a service development improvement 
plan, which allowed for further discussion within the new contract period. 
 
In response to a question around the timelines for the service improvement plan, 
and what went into the new contract, particularly as the new contract came into 
force on 1 April 2024, the ICB advised that the service development plan would be 
to review the service, to enable them to identify what needed to be improved. 
 
The Committee was concerned that the ICB would be contracting the provider itself 
to complete the review and it therefore questioned how the commissioners would 
hold the provider to account.   The response from the ICB was that monthly contract 
meetings would take place to consider the review progress. 
 
The Committee asked how it could fit in the scrutiny of the review given the 
timescale as outlined in Appendix 3 of the considered report and assure itself of the 
quality of the service provided.  The ICB responded that there had been 
engagement and that this was not a case of contracting for a brand-new 
specification but one of improving the services. 
 
In order to understand why Safe Haven might be taken out of the contract and given 
the drive to divert people away from Emergency Departments, the Committee asked 
where it could find evidence of how effective the services were.  The Committee 
was advised that the data around this issue was contained within the contract 
meetings.  The Committee therefore felt that it did not have the information available 
to it to make any recommendations on the review. 
 

Page 2



West Yorkshire Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee -  23 November 2023 
 

3 
 

RESOLVED –  
1) That practitioners and officers be thanked for their attendance and 

information. 

2) That Committee Chair and Deputy Chair have further discussions on the 

issue. 

3) That Members should consider whether there should be more discussion at 

place-based overview and scrutiny committees.  

 
8 Dentistry and Oral Health in West Yorkshire 

The Committee welcomed Hayden Ridsdale, Strategy and Partnerships Programme 
Manager, NHS West Yorkshire Integrated Care Board to the meeting.  
 
It was noted that on 1 April 2023 WY Integrated Care Board (ICB) received the 
delegation of commissioning responsibility for dental services from NHS England 
 
Access to NHS dental services and the general state of oral health continued to be 
a key challenge and concerned members of the public and elected officials alike. 
 
The challenges within the dental system included: 
 

 The national dental contract. The contract was based on Units of Dental 

Activity (UDAs), which varied widely across West Yorkshire, meaning dentists 

were paid differently for the same activity, and failed to deliver targeted 

interventions, prevention and in some cases value for the clinical complexity 

treated by dentists.  

 Dental workforce capacity and morale had been impacted by the COVID-19 

pandemic as well as wider factors borne out of the contract.  

 Capacity of the dental commissioning team, limiting ability to execute their 

functions, transform services and support the profession to deliver access. 

 Increasing patient need, complexity, and demand for dental services, 

resulting in part from the inability to access services.  

 Limitations in data access and quality that would enable more targeted 

transformation, service design, commissioning, and prevention work.  

Mr Ridsdale advised the Committee that the ICB Board had agreed 
recommendations to address the challenges including: 
 

 £6.5m additional investment to improve access, including an ‘at risk’ 

projection of £4.5m contract under delivery, which helped to plan using 

resources proactively. 

 Increasing the flexible commissioning substitution to 25% of the contract 

value and engaging more practices in the programme. 

 The development of a West Yorkshire dental workforce plan. 

 Working with local authority partners on a life-course approach to prevention, 

data/measurement priorities and water fluoridation and more. 

 Increasing the capacity of the dental commissioning team 

Page 3



West Yorkshire Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee -  23 November 2023 
 

4 
 

The Committee queried why some commissioning powers had been transferred to 
the ICB, and asked what the extent of the ICB’s commission powers were.  The 
Committee wanted to understand what the capacity was in local areas, and how it 
would be possible to get more services in the areas that needed them.  It was noted 
that the issue of fluoridation was also one that the Committee would welcome more 
information about. 
In response the Committee heard that contract reform sat at a national level, with 
contract reform not happening fast enough.  The Committee noted however that the 
ICB could work with 25% of the contract to introduce flexible commissioning and this 
would result in a real difference. 
 
Mr Ridsdale agreed to share a heat map of access area by area. In relation to 
fluoridation the wealth of scientific evidence clearly showed benefit with no evidence 
that it was harmful. It was noted that from a public health perspective the evidence 
in favour of fluoridation was overwhelming, but the challenge was around personal 
choice and a perception of mass medication with very polarised positions on this. 
The move to central decision making on fluoridation was positive, but the difficulty 
was around managing public opinion versus the evidence base. 
 
The Committee commented that the paper regarding dentistry, discussed at the ICB 
in May, was really impressive and gave energy and a sense of direction. However, 
Members noted that Calderdale had been unable to secure a provider for oral needs 
assessment and questioned what could be done about that.  The Committee sought 
to understand what tools were available to the ICB to boost provision.    
 
The Committee also noted that oral cancers had a very high mortality rate, and so 
questioned whether this should be given greater emphasis.   
The Committee was advised that the challenges were nationally around the 
resourcing surveys, and the capacity of staff to deliver surveys, with an immediate 
resolution to this not being available.  The ICB was working with British Association 
for the Study of Community Dentistry (BASCOD) to improve the situation, with 
evidence from the heat maps being used.  
 
The Committee was informed that additional revenue, along with the flexible 
commissioning could make a real difference. However, the data picture was patchy 
and bleak, particularly in relation to health inequalities. Better alignment to integrate 
services would improve the situation, for example aligning dentistry with smoking 
cessation.  
 
It was noted by the Committee that an oral cancer check was integral to any dental 
examination and that a pilot for two week route for patients who had suspected 
lesions would start soon wherein an image of the lesions taken by the dentist would 
be sent to the Leeds Dental Hospital for them to screen.  
It was reiterated that the dental contract was the main cause of difficulties with it 
only paying for 52% of people to receive NHS treatment but that work on flexible 
commissioning and urgent care would open doors for some people. 
The ICB explained that it was developing a plan and could share that at a later date.   
The Committee explained that it would find six-weekly updates on progress on the 
plan helpful. 
 

Page 4



West Yorkshire Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee -  23 November 2023 
 

5 
 

The Committee felt that progress in this area was not fast enough and there was a 
need to strengthen communication. The response to the Committee was that 
dentistry remained a top priority and it was acknowledged that communication could 
be improved. There was a real need to see contract reform and fluoridation of the 
water.  The Committee commented that to reinforce the issue in relation to the 
dental contracts, a letter should be sent to the Government regarding the need for 
dental contract reform.  
 
A representative from Healthwatch commented that the five places in West 
Yorkshire had oral health groups working alongside public health, and Healthwatch 
itself was involved at the ICB level. Healthwatch had noted that the number of 
phone calls about dentistry in Leeds was reducing, partly because the Healthwatch 
website gave more information.  
 
Healthwatch advised that since the ICB took responsibility in April there had been a 
positive “can-do” approach.  However, it was agreed that some things could only be 
done nationally, particularly around the contract where there was all-party support 
for making changes, but nothing had been achieved.   
 
The Committee heard that workforce continued to be an important issue, as there 
were not enough dentists working within the NHS. The funding available only 
allowed half the population to access NHS dental care. Healthwatch advised the 
Committee that all four national medical officers (England, Scotland, Wales, 
Northern Ireland) had strongly recommended fluoridation. 
The Committee welcomed the progress that had been achieved.  
 
RESOLVED –  
 

1) That practitioners, officers and Healthwatch be thanked for their attendance 

and information. 

2) That further information should be provided to the Committee around (i) the 

timeframes for ongoing plan (ii) the hotspots data (iii) progress being made 

on increasing communication and (iv) the workforce plans.  

3) That six weekly updates on progress on the vision and plans for the future be 

circulated to members. 

4) That a further discussion on fluoridation be scheduled for the Committee. 

5) That the chair and the deputy chair write to the Government to request 

progress on reform of the national dental contract. 

 
9 West Yorkshire Winter Planning 2023/24 

The Committee heard that the West Yorkshire Urgent and Emergency Care (UEC) 
Programme recently carried out a refresh to establish priorities which reflected both 
the strategic intention of the West Yorkshire Integrated Care Board (ICB), and 
national guidance such as the ‘Delivery Plan for the Recovery of Urgent and 
Emergency Services’. One of the identified priorities was to carry out a review of the 
West Yorkshire Urgent Care (WYUC) Service.  
 
The contract and services within WYUC had grown organically throughout the 
length of the contract. The service review would provide an opportunity to explore 

Page 5



West Yorkshire Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee -  23 November 2023 
 

6 
 

potential opportunities, improve efficiencies and make changes to benefit local 
people. 
 
Jon Parnaby, the Urgent Care lead from the Mid Yorkshire Trust but speaking on 
behalf of West Yorkshire ICB presented his report.  The Committee noted that this 
was a service review, not a contract review and not a provider review. The contract 
started ten years ago for GP out of hours emergency service, and it had grown 
organically since then. 
 
The Committee was advised that the contract value was £28m and this was the first 
time that this service had been reviewed. It was also the first review of this type 
being undertaken by West Yorkshire ICB.  
 
The Committee noted that the review had been broken down into three 
workstreams: 
 

 Workstream 1 - GP Out of Hours Services 

 Workstream 2 – Clinical Advice Service 

 Workstream 3 – Everything else that has been added to urgent treatment 

services such as staff training in Leeds and Safe Haven in Calderdale and 

Kirklees. 

The Committee heard that the aim was to have completed the review by March 
2024.  The approach adopted was to develop a service development improvement 
plan, which allowed for further discussion within the new contract period. 
 
In response to a question around the timelines for the service improvement plan, 
and what went into the new contract, particularly as the new contract came into 
force on 1 April 2024, the ICB advised that the service development plan would be 
to review the service, to enable them to identify what needed to be improved. 
 
The Committee was concerned that the ICB would be contracting the provider itself 
to complete the review and it therefore questioned how the commissioners would 
hold the provider to account.   The response from the ICB was that monthly contract 
meetings would take place to consider the review progress. 
 
The Committee asked how it could fit in the scrutiny of the review given the 
timescale as outlined in Appendix 3 of the considered report and assure itself of the 
quality of the service provided.  The ICB responded that there had been 
engagement and that this was not a case of contracting for a brand-new 
specification but one of improving the services. 
 
In order to understand why Safe Haven might be taken out of the contract and given 
the drive to divert people away from Emergency Departments, the Committee asked 
where it could find evidence of how effective the services were.  The Committee 
was advised that the data around this issue was contained within the contract 
meetings.  The Committee therefore felt that it did not have the information available 
to it to make any recommendations on the review. 
 
RESOLVED –  

Page 6



West Yorkshire Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee -  23 November 2023 
 

7 
 

 
4) That practitioners and officers be thanked for their attendance and 

information. 

5) That Committee Chair and Deputy Chair have further discussions on the 

issue. 

6) That Members should consider whether there should be more discussion at 

place-based overview and scrutiny committees.  

 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



K
IR

K
LE

ES
 C

O
U

N
C

IL
 

C
O

U
N

C
IL

/C
A

B
IN

ET
/C

O
M

M
IT

TE
E 

M
EE

TI
N

G
S 

ET
C

 
D

EC
LA

R
A

TI
O

N
 O

F 
IN

TE
R

ES
TS

 
 

N
am

e 
of

 C
ou

nc
ill

or
 

Ite
m

 in
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

 h
av

e 
an

 
in

te
re

st
 

 

Ty
pe

 o
f i

nt
er

es
t (

eg
 a

 
di

sc
lo

sa
bl

e 
pe

cu
ni

ar
y 

in
te

re
st

 o
r a

n 
“O

th
er

 
In

te
re

st
”)

 

 

D
oe

s 
th

e 
na

tu
re

 o
f t

he
 

in
te

re
st

 re
qu

ire
 y

ou
 to

 
w

ith
dr

aw
 fr

om
 th

e 
m

ee
tin

g 
w

hi
le

 th
e 

ite
m

 in
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

 
ha

ve
 a

n 
in

te
re

st
 is

 u
nd

er
 

co
ns

id
er

at
io

n?
  [

Y/
N

] 

 

B
rie

f d
es

cr
ip

tio
n 

of
 y

ou
r 

in
te

re
st

 

  

 
 

 

  

 
 

 

  

 
 

 

  

 
 

 

 Si
gn

ed
:  

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

   
   

   
D

at
ed

:  
  …

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
.. 

Page 9

Agenda Item 3



N
O

TE
S 

D
is

cl
os

ab
le

 P
ec

un
ia

ry
 In

te
re

st
s 

If 
yo

u 
ha

ve
 a

ny
 o

f t
he

 fo
llo

w
in

g 
pe

cu
ni

ar
y 

in
te

re
st

s,
 th

ey
 a

re
 y

ou
r d

is
cl

os
ab

le
 p

ec
un

ia
ry

 in
te

re
st

s 
un

de
r t

he
 n

ew
 n

at
io

na
l r

ul
es

. A
ny

 re
fe

re
nc

e 
to

 
sp

ou
se

 o
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
 in

cl
ud

es
 a

ny
 p

er
so

n 
w

ith
 w

ho
m

 y
ou

 a
re

 li
vi

ng
 a

s 
hu

sb
an

d 
or

 w
ife

, o
r a

s 
if 

th
ey

 w
er

e 
yo

ur
 c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
.  

 A
ny

 e
m

pl
oy

m
en

t, 
of

fic
e,

 tr
ad

e,
 p

ro
fe

ss
io

n 
or

 v
oc

at
io

n 
ca

rr
ie

d 
on

 fo
r p

ro
fit

 o
r g

ai
n,

 w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
, u

nd
er

ta
ke

s.
  

A
ny

 p
ay

m
en

t o
r p

ro
vi

si
on

 o
f a

ny
 o

th
er

 fi
na

nc
ia

l b
en

ef
it 

(o
th

er
 th

an
 fr

om
 y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y)
 m

ad
e 

or
 p

ro
vi

de
d 

w
ith

in
 th

e 
re

le
va

nt
 p

er
io

d 
in

 
re

sp
ec

t o
f a

ny
 e

xp
en

se
s 

in
cu

rr
ed

 b
y 

yo
u 

in
 c

ar
ry

in
g 

ou
t d

ut
ie

s 
as

 a
 m

em
be

r, 
or

 to
w

ar
ds

 y
ou

r e
le

ct
io

n 
ex

pe
ns

es
.  

 A
ny

 c
on

tra
ct

 w
hi

ch
 is

 m
ad

e 
be

tw
ee

n 
yo

u,
 o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
 (o

r a
 b

od
y 

in
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 y
ou

r c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

, h
as

 
a 

be
ne

fic
ia

l i
nt

er
es

t) 
an

d 
yo

ur
 c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y 
-  

• 
un

de
r w

hi
ch

 g
oo

ds
 o

r s
er

vi
ce

s 
ar

e 
to

 b
e 

pr
ov

id
ed

 o
r w

or
ks

 a
re

 to
 b

e 
ex

ec
ut

ed
; a

nd
  

• 
w

hi
ch

 h
as

 n
ot

 b
ee

n 
fu

lly
 d

is
ch

ar
ge

d.
  

 A
ny

 b
en

ef
ic

ia
l i

nt
er

es
t i

n 
la

nd
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 y
ou

r c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

, h
av

e 
an

d 
w

hi
ch

 is
 w

ith
in

 th
e 

ar
ea

 o
f y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y.
  

 A
ny

 li
ce

nc
e 

(a
lo

ne
 o

r j
oi

nt
ly

 w
ith

 o
th

er
s)

 w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
, h

ol
ds

 to
 o

cc
up

y 
la

nd
 in

 th
e 

ar
ea

 o
f y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 
au

th
or

ity
 fo

r a
 m

on
th

 o
r l

on
ge

r. 
 

 A
ny

 te
na

nc
y 

w
he

re
 (t

o 
yo

ur
 k

no
w

le
dg

e)
 - 

th
e 

la
nd

lo
rd

 is
 y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y;
 a

nd
 th

e 
te

na
nt

 is
 a

 b
od

y 
in

 w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r 

ci
vi

l p
ar

tn
er

, h
as

 a
 b

en
ef

ic
ia

l i
nt

er
es

t. 
 

 A
ny

 b
en

ef
ic

ia
l i

nt
er

es
t w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 y
ou

r c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

 h
as

 in
 s

ec
ur

iti
es

 o
f a

 b
od

y 
w

he
re

 - 
 

(a
) t

ha
t b

od
y 

(to
 y

ou
r k

no
w

le
dg

e)
 h

as
 a

 p
la

ce
 o

f b
us

in
es

s 
or

 la
nd

 in
 th

e 
ar

ea
 o

f y
ou

r c
ou

nc
il 

or
 a

ut
ho

rit
y;

 a
nd

  
(b

) e
ith

er
 - 

 
 

th
e 

to
ta

l n
om

in
al

 v
al

ue
 o

f t
he

 s
ec

ur
iti

es
 e

xc
ee

ds
 £

25
,0

00
 o

r o
ne

 h
un

dr
ed

th
 o

f t
he

 to
ta

l i
ss

ue
d 

sh
ar

e 
ca

pi
ta

l o
f t

ha
t 

bo
dy

; o
r  

 
if 

th
e 

sh
ar

e 
ca

pi
ta

l o
f t

ha
t b

od
y 

is
 o

f m
or

e 
th

an
 o

ne
 c

la
ss

, t
he

 to
ta

l n
om

in
al

 v
al

ue
 o

f t
he

 s
ha

re
s 

of
 a

ny
 o

ne
 c

la
ss

 in
 

w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
, h

as
 a

 b
en

ef
ic

ia
l i

nt
er

es
t e

xc
ee

ds
 o

ne
 h

un
dr

ed
th

 o
f t

he
 to

ta
l i

ss
ue

d 
sh

ar
e 

ca
pi

ta
l o

f t
ha

t c
la

ss
.  

 

Page 10



 

Briefing note for the WY JHOSC – 18 January 2024 

 

Harmonisation of commissioning policies 

 

Background 

Since its inception in July 2022 NHS WY ICB has been working to harmonise commissioning policy across 

the five places of West Yorkshire to remove differences in policy where they existed from the previous 

commissioning organisations, the Clinical Commissioning Groups and help reduce inequalities in 

outcomes, experience and access to treatments for people across the area (the postcode lottery).  

Clinicians and commissioning leads have been working together, with input from services and 

programmes if appropriate, to identify where there are differences, and to look at how those policies can 

be made the same for all places. The first set of policies was previously discussed by WY JHOSC in Summer 

2023. This briefing note provides an update on the work’s progress and the next set of policies due for 

harmonisation. 

The Evidence Based Interventions policies 

In December 2023 the Transformation Committee of WY ICB agreed a set of policies known as Evidence 

Based Interventions, which had been developed by the Academy of Medical Royal Colleges and NHS 

England. They were published in May and can be found on the Evidence Based Interventions page of the 

AoMRC website  EBI_Guidance_List3_0523.pdf (aomrc.org.uk) . Many of these were agreed as part of the first set 

of policies agreed at the Transformation Committee in October. The remaining 7 policies were agreed in December. 

These are:  

1. Asymptomatic carotid artery stenosis screening 

2. Referral for bariatric surgery 

3. Angioplasty for PCI (percutaneous coronary intervention) in stable angina 

4. Non-visible haematuria and 

5. Needle biopsy of prostate 

6. Optical coherence tomography (OCT) in diabetic retinopathy referral 

7. Glaucoma referral criteria 

Adoption of policies 1, 3 and 5 means fewer unnecessary diagnostic tests will be undertaken, releasing 

capacity for people to be seen sooner for test which will inform clinical decision making. 

Page 11

Agenda Item 7

https://ebi.aomrc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/03/EBI_Guidance_List3_0523.pdf


Adoption of policy 2 means that people with BMI of 50 and over can be referred directly for surgical 

assessment. Previously all people had to complete a ‘Tier 3’ weight management programme of a year’s 

duration prior to being considered for surgical assessment. Removal of this step allows people to access 

potentially lifesaving treatment sooner. 

Policies 6 and 7 are within ophthalmology services. These policies require additional diagnostic tests to be 

performed by primary care optometry services prior to the patient being referred to Hospital Eye 

Services, and although some of these pre-referral tests are commissioned to a limited extent in some of 

our places, we do not yet have comprehensive coverage. Further services will be established to enable 

adoption of these policies. 

Further West Yorkshire Policies 

The next set of policies due for harmonisation are hair removal, wig provision and gender dysphoria. 

Hair removal 

Presently the number of treatment sessions which is funded in each place is different. The proposal is to 

harmonise these to 6, based on clinical best practice. About 15 people access this procedure each year 

across West Yorkshire. Harmonising the policy means that best clinical practice is followed in all places. 

Wigs 

The policy proposal being considered excludes the provision of wigs during and after treatment for cancer 

which may result in hair loss. Wigs are provided for cosmetic reasons in cases where people suffer 

temporary or permanent hair loss due to a medical reason. The inclusion and exclusion criteria are the 

same across the places of WY but the entitlement in terms of types and number of wigs provided is not. 

In some places provision of human hair wigs is funded and in other places it is not. There is also variation 

in the number of human or acrylic wigs an individual may have each year. 

The proposal is to standardise provision to two acrylic wigs per year. We would only consider provision of 

human hair wigs where there is firm evidence of dermatological intolerance of the synthetic products. In 

these cases, only one wig would be provided. 

This policy affects approximately 550 people per year, of whom fewer than 40 receive human hair wigs. 

This policy would be a reduction in human hair wig provision for people in Leeds and to a lesser extent in 

Calderdale. 

Gender Dysphoria in Adults 

One of the places of WY has a policy outlining the services and interventions which are provided when 

required out with the NHS England gender services. This may include services such as non-specialist 

speech and language therapy and some non-specialist surgery after the patient has been discharged from 

Page 12



the NHS England specialist surgical team. The proposal is to adopt the policy in all places of WY. This does 

not represent any practical change in policy rather clearly states current practice in all places and 

provides greater clarity for clinicians, patients and the public. 

An additional two WY policies, which are already harmonised are due for review: bariatric surgery and 

treatment for infertility. The review of the bariatric surgery policy will cover primarily the permitted 

surgical procedures and the relationship with conservative management approaches. The treatment of 

infertility policy is being reviewed with the Humber and North Yorkshire and South Yorkshire ICBs and will 

consider eligibility criteria and clinical tests and interventions. The work on the fertility policy is in its early 

stages and future updates will be brought to the WY JHOSC as required. 

Individual Funding Requests 

If a reduction in access for a particular treatment means that a patient can no longer access it then the 

Individual Funding Request (IFR) process can be followed. This is a conversation that a patient would have 

with their GP or other healthcare professional’. They can ask the NHS, on behalf of the patient, to pay for 

a treatment that is not usually funded. If they believe that the patient’s clinical circumstances are 

exceptional and they would benefit from it, then the IFR process is an option. 

Combined impact assessments 

Patient experience 

Harmonisation of the commissioning policies and respective clinical thresholds will mean patients and 

people across WY will have access to the same treatment wherever they live in WY, and the clinical 

criteria for that treatment will be the same across all 5 WY Places. This will support reducing health 

inequalities in addressing variation in care and any equity of access to care issues. Referring clinicians and 

IFR panels will have policies and thresholds that are clear and consistent to assist with referrals and 

decision making. 

Patient safety  

All policies are based on evidence and designed to ensure that where procedures and interventions of a 

surgical nature are delivered, only those who stand to gain benefit from the procedure will be given 

access, thus reducing the risk of avoidable harm. 

Safeguarding 

Overall, there is a neutral impact on safeguarding. 

Equalities and health inequalities 

The impact on equality and health inequalities is neutral. Wig provision and availability has improved over 

the past decade such that all cultural and religious needs can be met with the provision of acrylic wigs.  

Page 13



Workforce 

Overall, there is a neutral impact on workforce. Clarity in eligibility criteria and removing the variation in 

access criteria may improve the experience of work for some clinical and administrative staff. 

Sustainability 

Overall, there is a neutral impact on sustainability. 

Summary 

The cumulative impact of the policy harmonisation has limited negative impact on experience of care, 

clinical effectiveness and equalities and health inequalities. Appropriate mitigations will be determined to 

reduce these. The overall impact is largely positive for most domains, reducing variation and increasing 

care quality for the majority of people. 

Communications and involvement 

The changes outlined in the hair removal, wig provision and gender dysphoria policies are limited 

however the clinical areas covered are very sensitive. A period of public engagement and on-line 

involvement is proposed. The precise timeline is to be confirmed, with consideration given to avoid the 

local election period in April and May. 

Recommendations 

The WY JHOSC is asked to support the work to harmonise commissioning policies across West Yorkshire, 

and to support the proposals as outlined in this briefing note. 

For any further information about the content of this briefing note, ahead of the WY JHOSC meeting, 

please contact Catherine Thompson, Associate Director – Planned Care (working days Monday – 

Thursday) Catherine.thompson13@nhs.net 0782 514 2815 

Page 14

mailto:Catherine.thompson13@nhs.net


   

 

 

Meeting name: WY Joint Health Oversight and Scrutiny Committee 

Agenda item no.   

Meeting date: 16th January 2024 

Report title: West Yorkshire Urgent Care Service Review Update 

Report presented by: Jon Parnaby 

Report approved by: Ian Holmes 

Report prepared by: Jon Parnaby 

 

Purpose and Action 

Assurance ☐ Decision ☐ 

(approve/recommend/ 

support/ratify) 

Action ☐ 

(review/consider/comment/ 

discuss/escalate 

Information ☒ 

Previous considerations: 

The initial approach was approved by the West Yorkshire Urgent and Emergency Care 

Programme Board in May 2023.  

 

A paper was then presented to the Transformation and Programmes SLT in July 2023, and 

subsequently to the NHS WY ICB Transformation committee on 31 October where the approach 

was supported.  

 

An introduction to the review approach was presented to the November WY Joint Health 

Oversight and Scrutiny Committee 

Executive summary and points for discussion: 

An introduction to the review of the West Yorkshire Urgent Care (WYUC) Service was presented 

to November WY Joint Health Oversight and Scrutiny Committee.  It was requested that further 

information on the scope of the WYUC service and latest patient feedback be presented at the 

January WY Joint Health Oversight and Scrutiny Committee.  This is now included in the body 

and appendix of this report. 

Which purpose(s) of an Integrated Care System does this report align with? 

☒   Improve healthcare outcomes for residents in their system  

☒   Tackle inequalities in access, experience, and outcomes  

☒   Enhance productivity and value for money 

☐   Support broader social and economic development 

Recommendation(s) 

The WY Joint Health Oversight and Scrutiny Committee is asked to: 

Page 15

Agenda Item 8



 

2 
 

1) Note the review of West Yorkshire Urgent Care services through the process described 

in the previous paper   

2) Note the governance arrangements described in the previous paper. 

3) Acknowledge the additional information and data in this report as requested at the 

November WY Joint Health Oversight and Scrutiny Committee 

 

Does the report provide assurance or mitigate any of the strategic threats or significant 
risks on the Corporate Risk Register or Board Assurance Framework? If yes, please 
detail which: 

None 

Appendices  

1. Appendix 1 – WYUC Patient Feedback 

Acronyms and Abbreviations explained  

1. Explained within the report 

 
What are the implications for? 

Residents and Communities To be considered as part of the Review and 
Engagement process 

Quality and Safety Quality colleagues embedded into the Review team 
and Impact Assessments being developed 

Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Equality colleagues embedded into the Review team 
and Impact Assessments being developed 

Finances and Use of Resources Lead finance colleague supporting the Review and 
any finance opportunities to be identified 

Regulation and Legal Requirements Close ties with Kirklees ICB (as lead commissioner) 
Contract colleagues with a procurement/contract 
extension option to be developed 

Conflicts of Interest Noted on the ToR for the Review Task and Finish 
Group with an acknowledgment some discussion 
may need to be taken out with the meeting due to 
commercial and operational sensitivities 

Data Protection Upon advice from DP ICB leads, responsibility of the 
relevant data controller (health and care provider) to 
undertake full DPIA 

Transformation and Innovation Update and engagement with UEC and 
Transformation across WY ICB 

Environmental and Climate Change None identified 

Future Decisions and Policy Making Dependent on the outcome of the review 

Citizen and Stakeholder Engagement To be considered as part of the Review and 
Engagement process 

Page 16



 

3 
 

1. Main Report Detail 

1.1 Background 

The West Yorkshire Urgent Care (WYUC) Service was identified as an area by the West Yorkshire Urgent and 

Emergency Care Programme Board which directly contributed to achieving their desired ambitions and met the three 

tests of Partnership working; working at scale to ensure the best possible health outcomes for people; Sharing good 

practice across the Partnership; Working together to tackle complex (or ‘wicked’) issues.  

 

The contract and services within WYUC have grown organically throughout the length of the contract. They need to 

be refreshed, realigned, and developed so they are fit for the future, incorporate latest standards, and satisfy the 

Urgent and Emergency Care needs of West Yorkshire communities. The service review will provide an opportunity to 

explore potential opportunities, improve efficiencies and make changes to benefit local people. Ultimately the result 

must benefit patient experience in terms of how they access and navigate the urgent care system. 

 

The approach was supported by the West Yorkshire Urgent and Emergency Care Programme Board in May 2023, 

and by the Transformation and Programmes SLT in July 2023 and the NHS WY ICB Transformation committee in October 

2023. 

 

1.2 Overview 

The review commenced in June 2023 with several workstreams established (outlined in “Scope” below). Since the 

report presented at the November WY Joint Health Oversight and Scrutiny Committee work has continued in the 

development of the Service Development Improvement Plan (SDIP) which is to be aligned with any new contract 

award to Local Care Direct (LCD).    

 

1.3 Scope & Activity 

1.3.1 GP Out of Hours 

Delivery in West Yorkshire of an Out of Hours (OOH) consultation & treatment service for patients who are 

referred from the NHS111 Service (90%) and other established pathways with an urgent primary medical care 

need in the out of hours period between; 6.30pm to 8am weekdays and all weekends and bank holidays. Providing 

P
age 17



 

4 
 

Virtual Consultations as well as operating Primary Care Centres (for face-to-face appointments). Also 

encompasses pathology lab results, prescriptions, and patient transport to/from Primary Care Centres as needed. 

ACTIVITY; 2023 -24 (April to November 2023) 164,765 patients 

November; 40% given telephone advice. 40% face to face 

 

1.3.2 WY Clinical Advice Service 

The Local Clinical Advice Services (CAS) are defined as: 

 1&2 Hour GP Speak to disposition  

ACTIVITY; November 2023, 2114, patients 

 NHS 111 Online ED (Emergency Department) Validation 

ACTIVITY; November 2023 809 patients 

 

1.3.3 Local Place Based Services 

 Calderdale: ED Streaming 

ACTIVITY; November 2023 254 patients 

 Kirklees: ED Streaming 

ACTIVITY; November 2023 321 patients 

 Calderdale & Kirklees Safe Haven 

ACTIVITY; November 2023 254 patients 

 Leeds: Urgent Treatment Centres 

ACTIVITY; 2023-24 (April to November 2023) 44,850 patients 

  

1.4 Reporting/Governance  

 

Outlined in November paper 

 

 P
age 18



 

5 
 

1.5 Engagement 

Communications and Engagement Leads have developed an Involvement Approach for the review and was 

presented in the November paper.  

 

LCD have an established patient feedback process which forms part of the Key Performance Indicators of their 

current contract.  Feedback is overall very positive and can be seen in the latest report attached as Appendix 1.  

 

1.6 WYUC Service Review Output/Route  

Following discussions with the SRO and provider, the decision was made by the Task and Finish group to follow a 
Service Development and Improvement Plan (SDIP) route for the WYUC Service Review, rather than the 
development of a brand-new service specification.  

Therefore, a detailed SDIP will be developed covering all in-scope services by 31 March and incorporated into any 
new contract from 1 April 2024. This approach will allow for a more collaborative approach to service improvement 
and give more time for review, development and engagement. The provider will be supported to deliver the SDIP. 
Progress will be formally monitored by contracting colleagues using agreed contract monitoring forums, with input 
from commissioning colleagues. A smaller SDIP implementation task & finish group made up of some members of the 
larger WYUC Service Review Task & Finish group will support contracting in this process. 

This direction was supported by the West Yorkshire Urgent and Emergency Care Programme Board on 14 November 
2023.  

 

1.7 Timeline  

 

Outlined in the November paper  

 

1.8 Risks 

A risk register has been developed with support from contracting leads and the SRO. The risk register is regularly 

monitored and presented to the Task and Finish Group.  P
age 19



 

6 
 

 

All post mitigation risk scores are below a 12 and therefore do not require escalation. 

 

 

2. Next Steps 

2.1 Contract options  

Agreement of new two-year contract to be confirmed by contracting colleagues and a formal SDIP agreed by the Task 

& Finish Group and LCD. 

 

2.2 Governance  

 Regular highlight reports will continue to be presented to the WY UEC Programme Board and ICB 

Transformation & Programmes SLT 

 Due to contract value any final procurement decision will be taken to the ICB Board by contracting colleagues  

 Items for decision will be taken to the NHS WY ICB Transformation committee 

 

3. Recommendations 

The WY Joint Health Oversight and Scrutiny Committee is asked to: 

1) Note the review of West Yorkshire Urgent Care services through the process described in the previous paper   

2) Note the governance arrangements described in the previous paper. 

3) Acknowledge the additional information and data in this report as requested at the November WY Joint Health Oversight and 

Scrutiny Committee 

 

 

 

 P
age 20



 

7 
 

4. Appendices 

Appendix 1 – WYUC Patient Feedback 

 

WYUC Patient 

feedback 2023-24 Q3.pptx 

P
age 21



T
his page is intentionally left blank



LCD WYUC Patient feedback
2023 Quarter 3: July, August and September

09/01/24 Confidential Slide 1

P
age 23



The survey and response

09/01/24 Confidential Slide 2

Purpose of the 
survey
The survey is shared 
with patients to gather 
feedback as part of our 
efforts to monitor the 
quality of our service 
and implement 
continuous 
improvements.

Survey details
During the quarter being reported on, 58,645 patients used our West Yorkshire Urgent Care services. To meet our contractual requirements, we 
required 176 survey responses from patients.

762 patients provided feedback through Local Care Direct’s WYUC survey. This survey was shared three times via text messages on 18 August, 19 
September and 17 October 2023 to 26,039 recipients who used the service during July, August and September. 

Please note, due to various reasons we currently do not survey palliative care patients, those who do not provide a mobile contact number, as well as 
patients in care homes, nursing homes and residential homes. We are reviewing how we can reach these individuals going forwards.

Out of the 762 responses we received, 50 focused on services or elements of the pathway not provided by Local Care Direct. These have been 
removed from the analysis on the following slides.

Of the 712 responses, 82% rated our services as very good or good (this is 1% lower than the previous quarter) and 11% rated the services as poor or 
very poor (this is 3% higher than the previous quarter). 

When analysing the rating of our services against demographics, we can see that:

• there is a slight increase in positive views against the increasing age of the patient;

• responses are similar from those identifying as female or male, and the results are different for those who identify as non-binary;

• more variance is present in responses from different ethnic groups; and

• those with a learning disability or mental health condition have rated their experience slightly different when compared against others.

We are aware that we can only base these statements on the results from those who complete the survey and some of our sample sizes are 
particularly small. For example, only four non-binary people responded to the survey compared to 422 females. 

Qualitative data
The comments from 
this survey are included 
in the excel file.

P
age 24



Document details

Title LCD WYUC Patient feedback: 2023 Quarter 3: July, August and September

Related contract: West Yorkshire Urgent Care Contract 

Status: Approved

Document version: Version 1

Date of this version: 14 December 2023

Distribution: Commissioners, West Yorkshire IUC/999 Clinical Quality group, LCD Executive Committee, LCD Patient 
Safety Group, LCD Operational Managers

Responsible person: Sarah Dooley, Communications and Engagement Manager

Accountable person: Alison Russell, Associate Director of Information and Risk

Approved for distribution: Carol Gilchrist, Director of Operations

Date approved for distribution: 14 December 2023

Associated documents: “Patient Experience 2023 Q3” excel file with all response data including comments

09/01/24 Confidential Slide 3

P
age 25



Changes since the last survey

09/01/24 Confidential Slide 4

Thinking about urgent primary care, overall how 
was your experience of our service? 23/24 Q3  23/24 Q2 

Very Good 61% 62%

Good 21% 21%

Neither good nor poor 6% 7%

Poor 5% 5%

Very poor 6% 4%

Don't know 1% 0%

Grand Total 712 640

P
age 26



Which area of West Yorkshire 
best describes where you live?

09/01/24 Slide 5Confidential

Thinking about your OVERALL 
experience, how would you rate 

our service(s)?

61%
21%

6%

5%
6% 1%

Very Good

Good

Neither good 
nor poor

Poor

Very poor

Don't know

32%

12%

2%18%

23%

11%
2% Bradford 

Calderdale

Craven

Kirklees

Leeds

Wakefield

Outside of West 
YorkshireP

age 27



Thinking about urgent primary care, overall how was your experience 
of our service(s)? against the area they used the service

09/01/24 Slide 6Confidential

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Home

Bradford and Craven

Calderdale and Kirklees

Leeds

Wakefield

Multiple areas

121

120

92

59

35

7

41

41

38

13

14

6

11

17

10

5

3

13

8

6

4

1

1

11

15

11

5

1

1

2

Very Good Good Neither good nor poor Poor Very poor Don't know

P
age 28



Thinking about urgent primary care, overall how was your experience 
of our service(s)? against where people live

09/01/24 Slide 7Confidential

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Bradford 

Calderdale

Craven

Kirklees

Leeds

Wakefield

Outside of West Yorkshire

133

42

13

82

108

50

6

48

21

3

29

31

18

3

20

8

6

9

3

12

5

4

9

3

17

7

2

7

7

1

1

1

3

Very Good Good Neither good nor poor Poor Very poor Don't know

P
age 29



Thinking about urgent primary care, overall how was your experience 
of our service? against what service they used

09/01/24 Slide 8Confidential

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Primary Care Centre appointment

Telephone or Video Consultation

Telephone or Video Consultation then a Home Visit

Telephone or Video Consultation then a Primary Care Centre Appointment

221

108

42

63

86

39

9

19

26

15

1

4

12

11

4

6

21

16

4

1

1

3

Very Good

Good

Neither good nor poor

Poor

Very poor

Don't know

P
age 30



Did you understand the explanation of the care and treatment 
provided? against where people live

09/01/24 Slide 9Confidential

Bradford  Calderdale Craven Kirklees Leeds Wakefield Outside of West 
Yorkshire

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

177 67
16 115 143

69

10

36
12

2 8
11

615 4 4 8

3

3 1 2
No response

No, never

Sometimes

Yes, always

P
age 31



How helpful was the advice on what to do if your condition worsens?  
against where people live

09/01/24 Slide 10Confidential

Bradford  Calderdale Craven Kirklees Leeds Wakefield Outside of West 
Yorkshire

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

109
33

5

63 83 39

4

63
27

7

44 46
26

4

26
8 3

9
14

4

1

15
4

4 11
316

11
2

8 9 3

4

2
1

1
No response

Not helpful at all

Slightly helpful

Somewhat helpful

Very helpful

Extremely Helpful 

P
age 32



Do you feel like you were treated with dignity and respect whilst using 
our service(s)? against where people live

09/01/24 Slide 11Confidential

Bradford  Calderdale Craven Kirklees Leeds Wakefield Outside of West 
Yorkshire

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

176
57

16 111 137
67

8

38
20

2
13 21

5

1

16 6 3 4 3

4

1 1 2
No response

No

To some extent

Yes, definitely

P
age 33



Patient feedback by area they 
used the service(s)

09/01/24 Confidential Slide 12

P
age 34



Thinking about urgent primary care, overall how was your experience 
of our service? against services used at home, against where people live

09/01/24 Confidential Slide 13

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80

Bradford 

Calderdale

Craven

Kirklees

Leeds

Outside of West Yorkshire

Wakefield

24

14

3

16

45

3

16

7

5

7

17

5

3

2

2

3

1

3

3

5

2

4

1

1

1

3

1

1

Very Good Good Neither good nor poor Poor Very poor Don't know

P
age 35



Thinking about urgent primary care, overall how was your experience 
of our service? against services used in Bradford and Craven

09/01/24 Confidential Slide 14

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80

Local Care Direct, Out of Hours GP at Skipton General Hospital, Craven;

Local Care Direct, Out of Hours GP at Skipton General Hospital, Craven;
Local Care Direct, Primary Care Centre at Airedale General Hospital, Bradford;

Local Care Direct, Out of Hours GP service at Eccleshill Community Hospital, Bradford;

Local Care Direct, Out of Hours GP service at Eccleshill Community Hospital, Bradford;
Local Care Direct, Primary Care Centre at Bradford Royal Infirmary, Bradford;

Local Care Direct, Primary Care Centre at Airedale General Hospital, Bradford;

Local Care Direct, Primary Care Centre at Airedale General Hospital, Bradford;
Local Care Direct, Out of Hours GP service at Eccleshill Community Hospital, Bradford;

Local Care Direct, Primary Care Centre at Bradford Royal Infirmary, Bradford;

Local Care Direct, Primary Care Centre at Airedale General Hospital, Bradford;
Local Care Direct, Out of Hours GP service at Eccleshill Community Hospital, Bradford;
Local Care Direct, Primary Care Centre at Bradford Royal Infirmary, Bradford;Home;

Local Care Direct, Primary Care Centre at Bradford Royal Infirmary, Bradford;

Local Care Direct, Primary Care Centre at Bradford Royal Infirmary, Bradford;
Home;

12

1

54

31

21

1

3

15

1

10

1

11

1

3

3

10

3

1

1

3

2

1

7

5 1

Very Good Good Neither good nor poor Poor Very poor Don't know

P
age 36



Thinking about urgent primary care, overall how was your experience 
of our service? against services used in Calderdale and Kirklees

09/01/24 Confidential Slide 15

0 10 20 30 40 50 60

Local Care Direct, Primary Care Centre at  Calderdale Royal Hospital, Calderdale;

Local Care Direct, Primary Care Centre at  Calderdale Royal Hospital, Calderdale;
Home;

Local Care Direct, Primary Care Centre at  Calderdale Royal Hospital, Calderdale;
Local Care Direct, Primary Care Centre at Huddersfield Royal Infirmary, Kirklees;

Local Care Direct, Primary Care Centre at Bradley Primary Care Centre, Kirklees;

Local Care Direct, Primary Care Centre at Bradley Primary Care Centre, Kirklees;
Home;

Local Care Direct, Primary Care Centre at Dewsbury Health Centre, Kirklees;

Local Care Direct, Primary Care Centre at Dewsbury Health Centre, Kirklees;
Local Care Direct, Primary Care Centre at Huddersfield Royal Infirmary, Kirklees;

Local Care Direct, Primary Care Centre at Huddersfield Royal Infirmary, Kirklees;

Local Care Direct, Primary Care Centre at Huddersfield Royal Infirmary, Kirklees;
Home;

Local Care Direct, Primary Care Centre at Huddersfield Royal Infirmary, Kirklees;
Local Care Direct, Primary Care Centre at  Calderdale Royal Hospital, Calderdale;

25

1

6

1

20

1

37

1

15

2

1

1

8

10

1

4

2

1

2

1

5

1

5

2

4

Very Good Good Neither good nor poor Poor Very poor Don't know

P
age 37



Thinking about urgent primary care, overall how was your experience 
of our service? against services used in Leeds

09/01/24 Confidential Slide 16

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40

Home;Local Care Direct Primary Care St George’s Centre, Leeds;

Local Care Direct Primary Care St George’s Centre, Leeds;

Local Care Direct Primary Care St George’s Centre, Leeds;Home;St George’s Urgent Treatment Centre, Leeds;

Local Care Direct Primary Care St George’s Centre, Leeds;St George’s Urgent Treatment Centre, Leeds;Urgent 
Care Centre at Lexicon House, Leeds;

Local Care Direct Primary Care, Wharfedale Hospital, Leeds;

St George’s Urgent Treatment Centre, Leeds;

St George’s Urgent Treatment Centre, Leeds;Local Care Direct Primary Care, Wharfedale Hospital, Leeds;

Urgent Care Centre at Lexicon House, Leeds;

Urgent Care Centre at Lexicon House, Leeds;Home;

Urgent Treatment Centre, Wharfedale Hospital, Leeds;

7

1

1

7

14

22

7

1

3

1

6

2

1

1

1

2

2

2

1

2

1

1

Very Good Good Neither good nor poor Poor Very poor Don't know

P
age 38



Thinking about urgent primary care, overall how was your experience 
of our service? against services used in Wakefield

09/01/24 Confidential Slide 17

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35

Trinity Medical Centre, Wakefield;

Trinity Medical Centre, Wakefield;
Home;

Urgent Treatment Centre at Pontefract Hospital, Wakefield;

16

19

5

1

8

2

1 1

Very Good Good Neither good nor poor Poor Very poor Don't know

P
age 39



Thinking about urgent primary care, overall how was your experience 
of our service? against services used in multiple areas

09/01/24 Confidential Slide 18

7; 44%

6; 37%

1; 6%

2; 13%

Very Good

Good

Neither good nor poor

Poor

Very poor

Don't know

P
age 40



Action from this survey
• This slide pack and the full data set have been shared 

with the appropriate teams within LCD (including Senior 
Managers) and external groups.

• LCD reviews the feedback to identify improvement 
actions across clinical, local and organisational levels.

09/01/24 Slide 19Confidential

P
age 41



Patient feedback by 
demographics

09/01/24 Confidential Slide 20

P
age 42



Demographics

09/01/24 Slide 21Confidential

Questions asked:
Please tell us the patient's gender 

q (Female / Male / Non-binary / Prefer not to say)

Please select the patient's age group 
q ( <1 year / 1 – 10 / 11 – 20 / 21 – 30 / 31 – 40 / 41 – 50 / 51 – 60 / 61 – 70 / 71 – 80 / 81 – 

90 / 91 >)

Are you / the patient living with any long term conditions, impairments or illness that have 
lasted or are expected to last for 12 months or longer? (please tick any that apply)

q Physical or mobility impairment (such as using a wheelchair to get around and/ or 
difficulty using their arms)

q Sensory impairment (such as being blind/ partially sighted or deaf/ hard of hearing)
q Mental health condition (such as depression or schizophrenia)
q Learning disability (such as having Downs Syndrome or dyslexia) or a cognitive or 

developmental issue (such as autism or a head-injury)
q Long term condition (such as cancer, HIV, diabetes, chronic heart disease, or epilepsy)
q Other (please specify) - [free text] 
q Prefer not to say

Please choose one option that best describes yours / the patient's ethnic group or background 
q Asian/Asian British: Bangladeshi, Chinese, Indian, Pakistani or any other Asian 

background
q Black/African/Caribbean/Black British: African, Caribbean or any other 

Black/African/Caribbean background
q Mixed/Multiple ethnic groups: White and Asian, White and Black African, White and 

Black Caribbean, and any other mixed/multiple ethnic background
q White: English/Welsh/Scottish/Northern Irish/British, Irish, Gypsy or Irish Traveller and 

any other White background
q Other [free text]  0 20 40 60 80 100 120 140

Less than 1 year old

1 - 10

11 - 20

21 - 30

31 - 40

41 - 50

51 - 60

61 - 70

71 - 80

81 - 90

91 or older

No response

Please select your/ the patient's age group

P
age 43



Demographics

09/01/24 Slide 22Confidential

59%

38%

1% 2%
Please tell us your/ the patient's gender

Female

Male

Non-binary

No response

170

91

44
36814

315

34

Count of Are you / the patient living with any diagnosed long-term conditions, impairments or illness that have lasted 
or are expected to last for 12 months or longer? (please tick any that apply)

Other / Multiple

Long term condition (such as cancer, HIV, diabetes, chronic heart disease, or epilepsy)

Mental health condition (such as depression or schizophrenia)

Physical or mobility impairment (such as using a wheelchair to get around and/ or difficulty using their arms)

Sensory impairment (such as being blind/ partially sighted or deaf/ hard of hearing)

Learning disability (such as having Downs Syndrome or dyslexia) or a cognitive or developmental issue (such as autism or a head-injury)

No

No response

85
16

22

563

10
16

Please choose one option that best describes yours / the patient's ethnic 
group or background 

Asian/Asian British Black/African/Caribbean/Black British Mixed/Multiple ethnic groups White Other No response

P
age 44



Less than 1 year old

1 - 10

11 - 20

21 - 30

31 - 40

41 - 50

51 - 6061 - 70

71 - 80

81 - 90

91 or older

Blank (No response)

Grand Total

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%
Very Good %

Good %

Neither good nor poor %

Poor %

Very Poor %

Don’t know %

Thinking about urgent primary care, overall how was your 
experience of our service? against age shown in percentages

09/01/24 Slide 23Confidential

The chart shows that there is a slight increase in positive views against the 
increasing age of the patient, as the dark green slightly spirals outwards. 

The age bracket that does not follow the trend as seen by all other age 
groups (i.e. very good on the outside with the highest percentages, with the 

lower rating going in towards the centre of the spiral) is those under one 
year old. However, it should be noted that this is one of our smallest sample 

sizes. The light grey boxes received the fewest responses, and the black 
boxes highlight the ages where we received the most feedback. 

The table this is built from is capture don the next slide. 

P
age 45



09/01/24 Confidential Slide 24

Thinking about urgent primary care, overall how was your experience of our service? 

Please select your's/ the 
patient's age group

Very Good 
%

Very Good Good % Good Neither 
good nor 
poor %

Neither 
good nor 
poor

Poor % Poor Very Poor 
%

Very poor Don’t 
know %

Don’t 
know

Grand Total

Less than 1 year old 38% 8 43% 9 10% 2 0%   10% 2 0% 0  21

1 - 10 56% 30 24% 13 9% 5 6% 3 6% 3 0%  0 54

11 - 20 54% 20 19% 7 8% 3 8% 3 11% 4 0% 0  37

21 - 30 41% 18 20% 9 20% 9 2% 1 16% 7 0%  0 44

31 - 40 45% 29 27% 17 11% 7 6% 4 9% 6 2% 1 64

41 - 50 57% 49 22% 19 6% 5 9% 8 6% 5 0%  0 86

51 - 60 64% 67 19% 20 9% 9 5% 5 3% 3 1% 1 105

61 - 70 73% 94 21% 27 2% 3 2% 2 2% 3 0%  0 129

71 - 80 73% 73 15% 15 1% 1 5% 5 6% 6 0%  0 100

81 - 90 64% 27 26% 11 2% 1 0% 0  7% 3 0% 0  42

91 or older 71% 12 12% 2 0% 0  6% 1 0%  0 12% 2 17

Blank (No response) 54% 7 31% 4 8% 1 8% 1 0%  0 0% 0  13

Grand Total   434   153   46   33   42   4 712

P
age 46



Female

Male

Non-binary

Blank (No response) 0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%
Very Good %

Good %

Neither good nor poor %

Poor %

Very Poor %

Don’t know %

Thinking about urgent primary care, overall how was your 
experience of our service? against gender in percentages

09/01/24 Slide 25Confidential

The chart shows that the responses are similar across three groups, i.e., 
green on the outside and red on the inside. The results are different for 

those who identify as non-binary; please note that this is our smallest 
sample size, with only four responses. 

The table of figures that this chart is developed from is on the next slide. 

P
age 47



09/01/24 Confidential Slide 26

Thinking about urgent primary care, overall how was your experience of our service? 

Please tell us your/ the 
patient's gender

Very Good 
% Very Good Good % Good

Neither 
good nor 
poor %

Neither 
good nor 
poor

Poor % Poor Very Poor 
% Very poor Don’t 

know %
Don't 
know

Grand 
Total

Female 62% 263 21% 90 6% 27 4% 18 5% 23 0% 1 422

Male 59% 161 22% 59 7% 18 5% 14 7% 18 0% 1 271

Non-binary 25% 1 0% 0 0% 0 0% 0 25% 1 50% 2 4

Blank (No response) 60% 9 27% 4 7% 1 7% 1 0% 0 0% 0 15

Grand Total   434   153   46   33   42   4 712

P
age 48



Asian/Asian British

Black/African/Caribbean/Black British

Mixed/Multiple ethnic groups

White

Blank (No response)

Other

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%
Very Good %

Good %

Neither good nor poor %

Poor %

Very Poor %

Don’t know %

Thinking about urgent primary care, overall how was your experience of our 
service? against ethnic group or background shown in percentages

09/01/24 Slide 27Confidential

The chart shows a level of variance that is not present 
in the other demographic questions. 

The difference in sample sizes is notable, with 563 
people identifying as White and only 16 identifying as 

Black/African/Caribbean/Black British. 

Please see the table this chart is built from on the next 
slide to integrate the data.

P
age 49



09/01/24 Confidential Slide 28

Thinking about urgent primary care, overall how was your experience of our service? 

Please choose one option that best 
describes yours / the patient's ethnic 
group or background 

Very 
Good %

Very 
Good Good % Good

Neither 
good nor 
poor %

Neither 
good nor 
poor

Poor % Poor Very Poor 
% Very poor Don’t 

know %
Don't 
know

Grand 
Total

Asian/Asian British 46% 39 28% 24 11% 9 8% 7 6% 5 1% 1 85

Black/African/Caribbean/Black British 31% 5 38% 6 19% 3 6% 1 6% 1 0% 0  16

Mixed/Multiple ethnic groups 55% 12 14% 3 14% 3 9% 2 9% 2 0% 0  22

White 65% 367 20% 113 6% 31 4% 22 5% 29 0% 1 563

Blank (No response) 47% 8 29% 5 0% 0  0% 0  24% 4 0%  0 17

Other 33% 3 22% 2 0% 0 11% 1 11% 1 22% 2 9

Grand Total   434   153   46   33   42   4 712

P
age 50



Learning disability (such as having Downs Syndrome or 
dyslexia) or a cognitive or developmental issue (such as 

autism or a head-injury)

Long term condition (such as cancer, HIV, diabetes, chronic 
heart disease, or epilepsy)

Mental health condition (such as depression or 
schizophrenia)

Physical or mobility impairment (such as using a wheelchair 
to get around and/ or difficulty using their arms)

Sensory impairment (such as being blind/ partially sighted or 
deaf/ hard of hearing)

No

Other / Multiple

Blank (No response)

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

Very Good %

Good %

Neither good nor poor %

Poor %

Very Poor %

Don’t know %

09/01/24 Slide 29Confidential

The chart shows that generally the responses are 
similar across the groups (i.e. green on the outside 

and red on the inside) except for those with a 
learning disability or mental health condition. Please 

see the table this chart is built from on the next slide to 
integrate the data.

Thinking about urgent primary care, overall how was your experience 
of our service? against long term conditions, impairments or illness that have 
lasted or are expected to last for 12 months or longer shown in percentages

P
age 51



09/01/24 Confidential Slide 30

Thinking about urgent primary care, overall how was your experience of our service? 

Are you / the patient living with any diagnosed long 
term conditions, impairments or illness that have 
lasted or are expected to last for 12 months or 
longer? (please tick any that apply)

Very 
Good %

Very 
Good Good % Good

Neither 
good 

nor poor 
%

Neither 
good 

nor poor
Poor % Poor Very 

Poor %
Very 
poor

Don’t 
know %

Don't 
know

Grand 
Total

Learning disability (such as having Downs Syndrome 
or dyslexia) or a cognitive or developmental issue 
(such as autism or a head-injury)

21% 3 36% 5 29% 4 0% 0 7% 1 7% 1 14

Long term condition (such as cancer, HIV, diabetes, 
chronic heart disease, or epilepsy) 65% 59 24% 22 2% 2 3% 3 5% 5 0%  0 91

Mental health condition (such as depression or 
schizophrenia) 41% 18 32% 14 16% 7 2% 1 7% 3 2% 1 44

Physical or mobility impairment (such as using a 
wheelchair to get around and/ or difficulty using 
their arms)

69% 25 14% 5 3% 1 11% 4 3% 1 0%  0 36

Sensory impairment (such as being blind/ partially 
sighted or deaf/ hard of hearing) 50% 4 13% 1 0% 0 25% 2 13% 1 0%  0 8

No 64% 201 22% 68 6% 18 4% 14 4% 14 0%  0 314

Other / Multiple 62% 106 16% 28 8% 13 4% 7 8% 14 1% 2 170

Blank (No response) 53% 18 29% 10 3% 1 6% 2 9% 3 0%  0 34

Grand Total   434   153   46   33   42   4 712

P
age 52



Thank you

09/01/24 31Confidential

P
age 53



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

                       

 

Title of 
meeting: 
 

West Yorkshire Association of Acute Trusts – 
Committee in Common (CiC) Meeting 

Agenda 
Item: 

 
 

 

Date of 
Meeting: 

January 2024 Section: 

Public  

Private x 

N/A  
 

Paper Title:  Non-Surgical Oncology (NSO) – Programme 
Update  

Purpose (this 
paper is for): 

 

Decision  Discussion 
 

Assurance x Information x 

  

Report Author and Job 
Title: 

Angie Craig – Programme Director NSO - WY&H Cancer Alliance  

Recommendations: 
 
It is recommended that the West Yorkshire Association of Acute Trusts notes: 
 

 The progression of the implementation model for NSO, as previously shared and agreed with 
the CiC. 

 The scheduled update being provided to the West Yorkshire Joint Health and Overview 
Scrutiny Committee, via the Director of Strategy and Partnerships, Ian Holmes.  This paper 
will be shared with that forum. 

 The proposal to continue implementation processes for the model in West Yorkshire 
alongside consideration of the tests for service reconfiguration; discussions with NHS 
England; and regional collaborative work operating across the North East and Yorkshire 
footprint. 

 That the Cancer Alliance proposes to continue implementation funding as part of its allocation 
of service development funding for 24/25, subject to the formal agreement of the WY&H 
Cancer Alliance Board, ICB, and NHSE.   

 

Executive Summary: 
 
The paper describes the development and design process for non-surgical oncology in the form to 
be presented as the update paper to the JHOSC.   
 
This covers: 
 
1 The governance, decision-making, and scope arrangements for the programme. 

2 The context and approach for a review of these services in West Yorkshire including the impact 

on the population affected; and arrangements for maintaining service sustainability during the 

review itself. 

3 The case for change, co-designed with patient input. 

4 Creating a clinical vision. 

5 Creating a model of care. 

6 Developing the options for change and a preferred new model. 

Page 55

Agenda Item 9



2 
 

7 Summary of the use of clinical, patient, and public engagement processes to establish 

resonance and sentiment to the proposals for improvement of the service, based on the new 

model. 

8 The improvement and refinement of the new model based on engagement outcomes. 

9 Our assessment if the engagement outcomes cause the new model to need to be 

substantively reconsidered or refined through co-designed implementation processes. 

The paper indicates support for proceeding with the current preferred option, as agreed by the 
Committee in Common.  The paper indicates that, subject to engagement outcomes from phase 2, 
it is likely that these arrangements will be satisfactory to demonstrate patient and public co-design 
and improvement of the proposals set out.  This builds on the excellent staff and clinical work which 
has already occurred, and continues, through the Targeted Operating Model workstreams. 
 

Outline of engagement 
activity – public/patient, 
clinical, stakeholder 

Details are contained in the substantive paper and in the supporting 
appendices. 

Risk Assessment:  The headline risks for service sustainability, quality, and delivery of 
effective change are reported through to the ICB Board via the board 
assurance framework.  Implementation of the model acts as a 
mitigation to these risks.   
 

Finance/ resource 
implications: 

Funding will be required to continue implementation of the 
programme in 24/25.  Implementation funding is proposed to be 
continued via service development funding provided to the WY&H 
Cancer Alliance. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 56



3 
 

Introduction 

The West Yorkshire non-surgical oncology (NSO) model relates to the six trusts in the West 

Yorkshire Association of Acute Trusts and their respective catchment populations.  These 

areas include Airedale, Calderdale, Leeds, Kirklees, Bradford District and Craven, and 

Harrogate and District.  The relevant catchment populations are approximately 2.5 million 

people1.  This is the population to be considered in scope.   

Five of these six trusts are co-terminus with the boundaries of the NHS West Yorkshire 

Integrated Care Board whilst the sixth, Harrogate and District NHS Foundation Trust has a 

population which is managed by the NHS Humber and North Yorkshire Integrated Care Board.   

This paper describes:  

10 The governance, decision-making, and scope arrangements for the programme. 

11 The context and approach for a review of these services in West Yorkshire including the 

impact on the population affected; and arrangements for maintaining service sustainability 

during the review itself. 

12 The case for change, co-designed with patient input. 

13 Creating a clinical vision. 

14 Creating a model of care. 

15 Developing the options for change and a preferred new model. 

16 Summary of the use of clinical, patient, and public engagement processes to establish 

resonance and sentiment to the proposals for improvement of the service, based on the 

new model. 

17 The improvement and refinement of the new model based on engagement outcomes. 

18 Our assessment if the engagement outcomes cause the new model to need to be 

substantively reconsidered or refined through co-designed implementation processes. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                           
1 Office for National Statistics, UK Census data 

Page 57



4 
 

1  Governance, Decision-Making, and Scope: 

Governance: 

The NHS West Yorkshire and NHS Humber and North Yorkshire Integrated Care Systems 

determine the arrangements for these services.   

It has been agreed that the NHS West Yorkshire Integrated Care System lead on the process 

and outcomes notified to the NHS Humber and North Yorkshire Integrated Care System, 

through the full engagement and inclusion of stakeholders from Harrogate and District 

throughout. 

The NHS West Yorkshire Integrated Care System discharges its decision-making functions 

through a Transformation Committee, which acts as a sub-group of the full Board. The 

Transformation Committee has been formally established by the Board and is chaired by a 

Non-Executive Director.  The Transformation Committee comprises representation from each 

constituent Place in West Yorkshire and other relevant representatives of the West Yorkshire 

Health and Care Partnership, using an agreed decision-making model.   

The Transformation Committee discharges its functions based on the recommendations 

agreed by the Committee in Common of the West Yorkshire Association of Acute Trusts 

(WYAAT); its operative sub-groups; and the opinions of the West Yorkshire and Harrogate 

Cancer Alliance Board.  All these forums are in support of the direction of travel indicated in the 

NSO review, as outlined in this paper. 

The Transformation Committee has been appraised of progress with the review and has 

supported the direction of travel indicated.  It has also guided the service review to 

presentation at the Quality Committee and ICB Clinical and Professional Forum, which has 

again been supportive.   

The West Yorkshire ICS Transformation Committee shall be responsible for taking a decision 

on the service review relating to section 14z2 of the Health and Social Care Act 2022 (as 

amended) from previous legislation.     

The NSO service review requirement was notified to the Joint Health and Overview Scrutiny 

Committee in 2021, who will act in that function relating to this review.  The notification was 

initially made by Mid Yorkshire Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust, until the review arrangements 

were adopted as indicated in the paper.   

The provisions of the Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health 

Scrutiny Regulations) 2013 apply to the service review.  The provisions of the Health and 

Social Care Act 2022 relating to the role of the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care 

have not been advised to the responsible commissioning authority as applying to this service 

review.  The ICS will be notified of any further necessary arrangements for conducting the 

regulation functions. 

Programme development: 

The programme was commissioned by the West Yorkshire Association of Acute Trusts 

(WYAAT), with the agreement of the commissioning authority.  WYAAT requested for the West 

Yorkshire and Harrogate Cancer Alliance to be the delivery agent for the review.   

Page 58



5 
 

The Cancer Alliance is a non-statutory NHS body led by two Senior Responsible Owners 

(SROs), a Managing Director and a Clinical Director.  The Cancer Alliance employed a 

Programme Director, Angie Craig, to develop the review following initial work from a project 

manager, external consultant, and the Managing Director.  Angie Craig has developed a 

clinical and project support team and the costs of the review have been met by the Cancer 

Alliance.  They have led decisions as to scope in reference to the decision-making 

infrastructure. 

The Cancer Alliance is governed by a Board, chaired by the SROs.  The Board has lay 

representation at the heart of its decision-making.  The Cancer Alliance has more than twenty 

sub-clinical forums to ensure that its work, priority setting, and decision-making is clinically led.  

The Cancer Alliance has also assured full internal and external clinical leadership of the 

programme; arrangements for co-production and design of the proposals from formative stage; 

and relevant engagement processes with NHS England.      

Linked to the proposals, a quality impact assessment has been developed; an equalities 

analysis is being refreshed linked to phase 2 engagement outcomes; financial modelling and 

impact activities are ongoing; travel and access modelling has taken place, demonstrating a 

positive impact on sustainability.  The proposals are also consistent with established 

mechanisms for data sharing agreements.  

In Scope 

 The NSO model generally refers to the management of patients receiving systemic anti-

cancer treatment (SACT) and most commonly chemotherapy, again most delivered 

either intravenously (through a vein), or orally.   

  

 The model refers to both adult and paediatric patients, however, only the service for 

adult patients has been under review.  Adult patients are defined as those aged 25 or 

over, or, alternatively, those aged between 16 and 25 who choose to have their care 

delivered in an adult setting.  Most users of the service are aged 50 and above, 

reflecting the age-distribution curve for cancer service.   

 

 70% of these patients have been diagnosed with a cancer of common incidence.  

Cancers of common incidence are breast, bowel, lung, and prostate cancer.  Breast 

cancer is the most common cancer affecting female patients; prostate cancer is the most 

common cancer affecting male patients.  Activity data shows that 20,000 treatments are 

provided to patients in West Yorkshire each year.   

 

 The model also refers to the management of patients who use acute oncology services.  

Acute oncology services were established as part of the NHS Improving Outcomes 

Guidance (IOG) and are concerned with ensuring the safe and effective management of 

patients who experience toxicities associated with cancer treatment or are managing 

complications associated with the progression of the underlying disease.   

 

 Acute oncology is also concerned with the management of patients who present with 

suspected, or confirmed, cancer symptoms through emergency care.  All hospitals with 

an accident and emergency department in West Yorkshire have a safe and compliant 

service to manage acute oncology and this will continue with the NSO model. 

Page 59



6 
 

 

 SACT and acute oncology are in-scope of the review within these terms. 

Out of scope 

 The Leeds Cancer Centre provides some specialist services to patients outside of the 

West Yorkshire and Harrogate boundary areas however, these arrangements are not 

affected by the changes agreed to the NSO model.  Some of these services are 

provided on a national basis.  Surgical oncology is also out of scope, directly. 

 

 Radiotherapy services, as commissioned by NHS England, are also not directly affected 

by the changes agreed to the NSO model.  Improvements to the access and 

infrastructure of radiotherapy services locally are being developed by Leeds Cancer 

Centre, working in conjunction with the Yorkshire and Humber Operational Delivery 

Network (ODN) and Yorkshire and Humber Strategic Collaborative Commissioning 

Committee.   

 

 A regional group, operating at NHS North-East and Yorkshire level, meets to consider 

improvements to NSO services which have joint applicability to each of the four 

constituent systems within its boundaries.  None of these proposed improvements have 

implications for where and how services are provided.  Instead, they comprise of 

functions where there is a shared focus in collaboration, such as encouraging workforce 

innovation and international recruitment; developing shared protocols; and engaging in 

capacity and demand modelling. 

 

 The NSO model principally refers to patients with solid tumour cancers, meaning that 

haemato-oncology services are also considered to be formally out of scope and not 

directly affected by the model.  Haemato-oncology will be considered in conjunction with 

a fragile service review of haematology services, and it is recognised that the 

arrangements for these services will continue to need to take account of provisions 

made in NSO. 

 

 Provisions for supportive and palliative care are not affected by the proposals.  It 

remains recognised that access to timely, comprehensive, supportive, and palliative care 

provision is vital.  The ICB has supported national consultation work to increase funding 

for palliative care, whilst the Cancer Alliance has supported work focussing on service 

improvement, including referral pathways and common standards of care frameworks for 

patients needing support. 

Demographic of the population in scope 

 All users of the service are considered to meet the legal definition of having a disability, 

as cancer is a long-term illness or condition expected to last for twelve months or more.  

With respect to the application of other protected characteristics under the Equality Act, 

a person could have a cancer diagnosis and have one or more other protected 

characteristics.  There is no evidence that most people with protected characteristics 

other than age and disability are more likely to experience a cancer diagnosis than the 

underlying population.   

 

Page 60



7 
 

 Therefore, cancer prevalence is not usually considered to be more commonly 

associated with incidence of protected characteristics, other than advanced age and the 

direct implication of disability status arising from the condition itself.   

 

 However, outcomes from cancer continue to be poorer in lower socio-economic groups.  

This includes the disproportionately high number of persons from a minority ethnic 

background who are from a low (Index of Multiple Deprivation 1-4) socio-economic 

group within the catchment population.  This is partly because of awareness of cancer 

signs and symptoms – impacting on early presentation rates; participation in cancer 

screening programmes; and poverty associated factors, such as not being able, aware, 

or supported to, eat healthily. 

 

 The proposals are positive, overall, for the protected characteristics of age, and disability 

and for persons who are affected by lower socio-economic status and their associated 

characteristics.  The impacts are otherwise neutral.  The positive effects are because, 

overall, the NSO model delivers more care closer to home and has features which 

intend to reduce prevailing health inequalities, such as creating more equitable access 

to clinical trials; more locally defined treatment options (such as mobile units for 

chemotherapy treatment); and improved resilience for acute oncology services which 

are more likely to be used by patients who present as an emergency.   

 

 Other provisions being developed by the Cancer Alliance have reciprocal benefit for 

these communities including targeted screening awareness campaigns and access 

programmes for minority groups, such as targeted lung health checks; challenging 

misconceptions and stigma associated with cancer screening – for example amongst the 

transgender community.  They have benefits for the users of NSO services. 

 

 Where, by exception, there is a change of service location which is further away, for 

example very complex medical oncology inpatient care which needs to be directly 

overseen by a consultant-level oncologist, the impact of this has been mitigated by 

making provisions for supported transfers between institutions (typically via ambulance 

for patient safety) and by exploring dispensatory travel cost schemes, either via the 

West Yorkshire Combined Authority; a charitable grant system through Macmillan 

Cancer Support; or by existing schemes to renumerate travel costs for patients and their 

families – i.e., car parking provisions.  Travel and cost analysis has taken place.   

 

 More details about the demographics affected by the NSO model can be found in the 

NHS West Yorkshire Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion Report2 which has been used as 

part of the analysis of equalities factors. 

 

 The model makes a positive contribution to sustainability by reducing unnecessary travel 

journeys for patients, carers, and others using NSO services.  This includes ensuring 

that most of the acute oncology care continues to remain provided in the local hospital of 

the patient concerned. 

                                                           
 

Page 61



8 
 

 

 

 

 

2 Context 

Incidence of cancer 

Cancer is a major population health challenge in West Yorkshire, with an estimated one in two 

people expected to develop the condition at some stage of their lifetimes.   

The incidence of cancer is expected to rise associated with increases in life expectancy and as 

a residual feature of premature mortality events.  The impact of cancer in West Yorkshire is 

strongly associated with a national picture and indeed the burden of cancer is considered a 

worldwide health challenge, particularly in middle to high income countries.   

Cancer referrals 

In the last ten years, the number of patients referred by the GP for an urgent suspected cancer 

referral has more than doubled, a rate of growth exceeding the underlying rate of increased 

headline demand by some margin.  Every week, 250 people in West Yorkshire and Harrogate 

are diagnosed with cancer.   

Of these cases, around four out of every ten could be avoided by changes to lifestyle including 

stopping smoking; maintaining a healthy weight and physical exercise; adopting safe 

approaches to sun-care; avoiding substance misuse; and taking action to improve air quality.3  

115 people die each week because of the condition in West Yorkshire.  Cancer causes one in 

four of all deaths and is expected to cause death in more than 200,000 cases per annum by 

2038-40, compared to 167,000 cases now. 

Early diagnosis rates 

Rates of early diagnosis have improved in West Yorkshire to approximately 56%4 and some 

improvement programmes, like targeted lung health checks, have disproportionately benefitted 

populations experiencing health inequalities5. However, there is much more work to be done to 

meet the ambition set out in the NHS Long-Term Plan, which is that three out of every four 

cases of cancer diagnosed will be at stages one and two by 2028.   

The ICB Joint Forward Plan has identified an initial goal of 62% as a stepping-stone to this 

level of achievement and the Cancer Alliance coordinates with all partners on developing an 

Early Diagnosis plan, operative across the system.  Cancers detected at stages one and two 

are associated with a higher probability of receiving active treatment intervention, with 

favourable impacts for the prognosis and outcomes of the person concerned. 

Improving early diagnosis 

                                                           
3 Cancer Research UK 
4 Rapid Registration Dataset, published by NHS England. 
5 NHS England National Cancer Programme 

Page 62



9 
 

To achieve this goal, all partners are involved in delivering a range of interventions seeking to 

promote healthier lifestyle choices and improved population health awareness and early 

presentation; encourage adoption and uptake of the national cancer screening programmes 

(bowel, breast, and cervical); deliver population-wide rollout of targeted screening approaches 

for lung cancer; trial targeted screening opportunities for cancer including of the kidney, 

prostate, and multi-cancer early detection tests (MCED) such as the NHS Galleri (GRAIL) trial.  

These initiatives are being matched with investments in the diagnostic infrastructure, such as 

the role of community diagnostic centres (CDCs) and a range of plans to promote the 

necessary investment in workforce, as described in the NHS Workforce Plan6   

Cancer survival 

Cancer survival in the UK has also improved and has doubled over the last 50 years, 

associated with the development of new treatments and technologies. Half (50%) of people 

diagnosed with cancer in England and Wales survive their disease for ten years or more (2010-

11).  However, cancer survival is higher in women than men and the five-year relative survival 

for cancer for both men and women remain below the European average in England, Wales, 

and Scotland7.   

Modalities of cancer treatment 

UK Government data8 shows that for cancers diagnosed between 2013 and 2016 in England, 

of those receiving at least one of the main treatment types (surgery, chemotherapy, or 

radiotherapy), 28% were treated with chemotherapy, 27% with radiotherapy and 45% with 

surgery, with some cancers receiving a combination. A third of diagnoses had no record of 

receiving any of these most common treatment types.   

For cancers diagnosed between 2013 and 2016 in England, 39% were treated with one of 

chemotherapy, radiotherapy, or surgery, 22% were treated with two of these, and 7% with a 

combination of all three. For cancers diagnosed at a later stage, chemotherapy was used more 

commonly than for early-stage diagnoses; less surgery was used for later-stage diagnoses.  

Cancers diagnosed in younger patients are more likely to be treated than those diagnosed in 

older patients. For example, 76% of cancers in patients aged under 50 are treated with 

surgery, compared to 23% of cancers in patients aged 80 or over. 

Growing use of NSO (and SACT) 

Associated with the above, the use of SACT treatments can occur in multiple lines, or 

episodes, or treatment, associated with the care of the same patient.  Sometimes these occur 

successively, or over the course of several years.  This means that as the incidence, impact, 

and prognostic indicators of cancer change favourably, including the extension of early 

diagnosis to more patients with survivability benefit, the expected demand curve for NSO is 

similarly projected to increase significantly over the next 20 to 30 years. 

How patients access NSO services 

                                                           
6 https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/nhs-long-term-workforce-plan/ 
7 Cancer Research UK 
8 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/chemotherapy-radiotherapy-and-surgical-tumour-resections-in-
england/chemotherapy-radiotherapy-and-surgical-tumour-resections-in-england 

Page 63



10 
 

Patients can enter cancer services via several different routes, and this impacts on how they 

initially interact with NSO services, following diagnosis and agreement of the respective 

treatment option/s.  This is managed via a multi-disciplinary team (MDT) comprising of a range 

of specialists involved in cancer care diagnosis, assessment, management, and treatment.  

Most patients enter a cancer diagnostic pathway through a referral made by a GP under what 

is the faster diagnosis standard (FDS).   

FDS means that at least three quarters of patients should either be confirmed with cancer, or 

be excluded from the cancer pathway, within 28 days of the date of referral.  This standard is 

usually met within West Yorkshire.  This accounts for 40% of referrals9.  GP referrals for other 

reasons, where a cancer is detected incidentally, account for 21% of referrals.  18% of cancers 

are detected via emergency presentation; whilst the residual is split between screening, 

inpatient elective, and other outpatient referral streams.   

Referrals from screening are highest in those specialties with a national screening programme, 

with emergency presentation rates highest in typically more aggressive cancers, such as 

malignancies of the brain and central nervous system; and where survival prospects are 

typically lower – for example liver and pancreatic malignancies. 

Overall, for patients diagnosed with cancer, irrespective of the means of presentation, the first 

definitive treatment should commence within 62 days (two months).  This period allows for 

tests, investigations, personalised care planning and patient choice.  The NHS Constitution 

standard is set at 85%, which is not being met across the United Kingdom at present.  

Treatment should also be commenced within 31 days of the date of decision to treat, and this 

standard is usually met, particularly in the case of treatments classified in scope of the review. 

Cancer patient support 

For patients diagnosed with cancer, they have access to a key worker to support and 

coordinate the care they need.  This is supported by a holistic needs assessment (HNA).  

Patients also receive tailored support and advice around how to manage chemotherapy, 

including advice and a single support hot-line number if they are feeling unwell, or need 

support.   

This hotline is available 24/7/365 and is equitably provided by the constituent hospital services 

across West Yorkshire.  Patients should also receive a personalised care support plan and 

cancer care reviews, supported by their GPs.  They also require timely and comprehensive 

access to palliative and supportive care, where needed. 

NSO service set-up 

In the context of rising demand and complexity of care associated with NSO, West Yorkshire 

remains unusual nationally in the way that its medical oncology non-surgical oncology (NSO) 

services are delivered.  The most recent significant change to NSO services in West Yorkshire 

occurred more than twenty years ago.   

Across West Yorkshire, NSO is provided through local Cancer Units (5), each with its own 

resident medical oncologists, alongside a specialist Cancer Centre (1), delivering care for rarer 

cancers and specialist treatments such as radiotherapy.   

                                                           
9 Routes to Diagnosis, 2018, National Cancer Registration Dataset. 

Page 64



11 
 

Elsewhere in the country, a “hub and spoke” model is more usual, where medical oncology is 

provided as a visiting service from the Cancer Centre.  All hospitals with an accident and 

emergency department have an acute oncology service. 

Challenges in delivering NSO – Prevalence 

Over time, since the introduction of the West Yorkshire model, the delivery of NSO services 

has become significantly more challenging. As has been stated, the growth in the prevalence 

of cancer, increases in early diagnosis and more options for the type and amount of treatment 

now available has significantly raised the demand for NSO services and outstripped the growth 

in the medical oncology workforce, regularly creating capacity and resilience risks within the 

system.   

Challenges in NSO service delivery – new treatments 

This growth has also included new indications for treatment from NICE appraisals and the 

wider / more routine use of immunotherapies.  The positive impacts of new, combination and 

extended treatments, whilst hugely positive for patients, have an associated impact on the 

workforce required to diagnose, prescribe, and manage the care of the greater number of 

people undergoing care for their cancer. 

Challenges in NSO service delivery – national workforce deficits 

Medical and clinical oncology is recognised as a significant workforce deficit area,10 particularly 

at qualified consultant oncologist level.  The workforce demographic is also ageing and 

disproportionately featured of clinicians who are within ten years of their scheduled age of 

retirement.  This means that, nationally, the number of consultant oncologist vacancies is 

expected to near treble by the end of the decade.   

The distribution of the deficit is inequitably spread across most of the regions of England 

except for London, due to the higher concentration of Cancer Centres in the capital and the 

resulting higher ratio of consultant oncologists to head of population and cancer incidence 

rates as a result.  Specifically, workforce census data shows that workforce challenges are 

sharpest across most of the North of England, the Midlands Region and the South-West of 

England.  

Challenges in NSO service delivery - mitigations 

The different model of care for services in West Yorkshire may have made the system more 

vulnerable to these supply and workforce sustainability issues, however, the strong culture of 

mutual aid, provider collaboration has been hugely beneficial in working to address and 

mitigate current issues.  

The frequency of on-call working in smaller services has created a further recruitment 

disadvantage, given that comparative structures in neighbouring geographies see centralised 

recruitment to cancer centres, giving more attractive working conditions for some oncologists. 

As mitigations, systems, including this one, have been developing non-medical consultant 

roles, such as consultant nursing and pharmacist opportunities, and seeking to increase supply 

by considering international routes; reviewing retention packages; reviewing the opportunities 

to provide more favourable and equitable on-call arrangements; improving job plans; and by 

                                                           
10 Royal College of Radiologists 

Page 65



12 
 

encouraging a growth in the number of training places for medical oncology commissioned via 

the training deaneries.    

 

 

 

 

3 Summary of the Case for Change 

The issues in West Yorkshire were brought into sharp focus with the immediate, and now 

ongoing challenges, faced in recruiting substantive, local, medical oncologists to provide NSO 

services in Mid Yorkshire Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust.  These were first brought into acute 

focus in 2021.  Principally, the case for change in NSO is that the unavoidable growth in 

demand from demographic factors, matched with sustained workforce deficits at consultant 

level means that the model in place before 2021 is not clinically viable to proceed with.  This 

caused the need to review the service.  

Since the onset of the service review in that year, and following notification of the challenges to 

the commissioners, acute provider collaborative and the overview and scrutiny committee, 

these challenges have persisted.  A complex, open-minded, and broad-based programme of 

service review and improvement has occurred, whilst the immediate sustainability concerns 

were addressed at the same time.  In essence, the continued workforce supply deficit, 

contextualised in the exponentially growing demand requirement, has created the case for 

change for NSO, and the context of the service review.  

Maintaining sustainability 

During the review, and ongoing, providing sustainability at Mid Yorkshire and other trusts 

across the system has required significant support with locum staff; new ways of working; and 

mutual aid from Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust (LTHT), Calderdale and Huddersfield 

NHS Foundation Trust (CHFT), and wider, to address the shortfall of seven oncologists.   

Some of this support has now been in place for a significant number of years, as part of an 

interim solution agreed at the start of the NSO review process (2021). The context of the 

requirement for mutual support was presented to WYAAT, the West Yorkshire Health and Care 

Partnership Executive Leadership team, and the Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee (JHOSC) at the time, with an updated position since.  

Case for Change - why no change was not an option at the time and remains the case now? 

There is wide acknowledgement from senior clinicians, patient representatives, and corporate 

leaders that without service transformation, present risks for patients in the delivery of their 

face-to-face care locally would continue and the Mid Yorkshire Teaching NHS Trust (MYTT) 

staff would struggle to deal with multiple ways of working alongside the uncertainties created 

by high levels of locum staff.   

From the point in time when the service review was initially commissioned, in 2021, these 

factors have persisted and no significant, sustainable improvement in workforce supply has 

Page 66



13 
 

materialised to enable the status quo ante provision to be restored, in its exact form.  Some of 

the challenges are referenced below: 

 Medical Oncologist recruitment across the six West Yorkshire Association of Acute Trusts 

(WYAAT) has not improved since the review and supply of clinical oncologists is also 

challenged. The national job market remains very constrained with an ongoing significant 

deficit predicted by the Royal College of Radiologists. 

 

 Advertised roles to date – including for locum positions - in both Cancer Units and the 

Cancer Centre have not attracted suitable candidates, resulting in continued pressures 

across all services.  All partners continue to work hard to retain trainees as they emerge 

from training and have had some success via our international recruitment efforts, although 

not at consultant level. 

 

 With regards to the other roles involved in NSO care, there are still insufficient suitably 

qualified staff to meet current needs across the region, even before future requirements are 

considered. Currently, existing Advanced Nurse Practitioner (ACP) and Advanced / 

Consultant Pharmacy colleagues are moving for opportunities across the sector, but there 

is not yet any increase in the overall numbers of these vital groups of staff.  

 

 Additionally, there are significant gaps and use of agency staff within the chemotherapy 

delivery workforce, including cost premia.  We are working to develop potential solutions, 

increase training and the use of common frameworks via an NSO workforce group. This is 

linking with WYAAT wide HR and Nursing Directors work programmes and is utilising the 

ACCEND programme where appropriate. 

In practical terms, without considering changes to the delivery model, the following adverse 

outcomes would be likely: 

 Inequitable waiting times for patients requiring NSO services. 

 

 Shortfalls in the quality and efficacy of specialist inpatient care delivered to patients 

experiencing either complications of SACT or their underlying disease. 

 

 Risk of service failure, as has been seen in neighbouring systems - where no specialist 

medical provision remains to attend to patient needs. 

 

 Significantly diminished patient experience. 

 

 Worsened health inequalities and inequitable access based on geographical factors in 

West Yorkshire. 

As evidence of the above, in some instances, mutual aid has also been required outside of the 

geographical boundaries of West Yorkshire – for example services in Hull, York and paediatric 

clinical oncology in Sheffield, whilst the review has been ongoing.  

When these gaps in services have occurred, the system response has been to work together 

across West Yorkshire to agree the provision of temporary support arrangements. However, 

this reactive approach, and the fragility and often short-term nature of this support, has 

Page 67



14 
 

required regular and significant senior operational input to ensure day to day risks for patients 

and staff are managed. The impact on current staff working additional sessions without a long-

term plan also have a significant effect.  It follows that a more sustainable model of care is 

necessary. 

 

 

 

 

4  Creating a clinical vision 

The Cancer Alliance deployed an adapted improvement methodology including a broad-based 

clinical and operational engagement approach across all six WYAAT Trusts with lay input from 

the outset, dedicated programme management and tight operational oversight.  The Cancer 

Alliance has shared this improvement methodology with WYAAT to inform best practice in 

reviewing other fragile services.  

The principles of appreciative inquiry were used to:  

 Form a realistic appraisal of the problem-faced, based on a core clinical vision.  

 

 Develop set of design principles, against which any redesign option would be assessed.  

 

 Draw together local and external expert opinions.  

 

 Design a suggested model of care. 

 

 Ensure that engagement outcomes and key considerations from a patient perspective 

informed the review arrangements at this stage.  

This approach was fostered by creating a Steering Group, which was formed of clinicians from 

across all six provider trusts and each constituent discipline involved in delivering NSO care.  

Patient representatives also formed part of the review and the development of the work 

proceeded on a consensus-based model.  

This work of the Steering Group was supplemented by an external review, carried out by 

Professor Sir Mike Richards, former National Cancer Director.  Due to the specialist nature of 

the service line, the Cancer Alliance agreed with WYAAT that this route for external review was 

advantageous and would permit the effective external scrutiny of services which can 

sometimes be provided alternatively by clinical senates.  The external clinical review would 

also make recommendations against which the new model could be evaluated for 

completeness and benefits realised, once complete. 

The Cancer Alliance also arranged for informal peer discussions about its proposals and 

emerging thinking with neighbouring Cancer Alliances in the North-East and Yorkshire Region.  

 

 

Page 68



15 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5 Developing a model of care 

The model of care identified from the external review suggested that:  

 The problem statement, as developed by the programme, was broadly correct. 

 

 A focus on delivering effective support arrangements for patients receiving NSO services 

was necessary, including wider considerations than consultant oncologist provision. 

 

 Referral volumes to responsible medical oncologist consultants were inequitable, and there 

was a risk of further service failure.  Workforce innovation was needed. 

 

 Common systems were needed to manage care protocols and tasks such as electronic 

prescribing to support the safety and sustainability of revised arrangements. 

 

 Arrangements should be considered around centralised employment provisions for 

consultant oncologists. 

 

 A revised service model would need to allow supported access for patients into clinical 

trials. 

 

 To deliver a more sustainable NSO model, arrangements for the provisions of complex 

acute oncology care, provided in an inpatient setting, would need to be reviewed and 

consolidated.  This could allow for the development of care on a networked basis (in 

sector/s), and/or with the application of Tiers.  

Specifically on this final point, the external review of services suggested that the system would 

need to see the retention and expansion of sustainable acute oncology services across the 

Cancer Alliance, but with medical oncologist led assessment in an inpatient environment 

concentrated in two provider trusts.  This would be a reduction from the current four provider 

trusts where this care was provided in the status quo, and fewer than the model of five provider 

trusts in the status quo ante model.   

As part of his review, Professor Richards incorporated into his terms of reference a discussion 

with each of the constituent provider trusts around which arrangements they considered might 

operate most effectively if this recommendation was proceeded with.  This also created, in 

effect, a long list of options.  However, all permutations of options which either reverted to the 

prevailing status quo, the status quo ante position, or any option which involved care being co-

Page 69



16 
 

located in three or more providers was discounted.  The other options which were implicitly 

discounted were any variable including service reconfiguration of the Leeds Cancer Centre site 

and its provision, plus the creation of a new inpatient infrastructure for acute oncology on the 

sixth site (Harrogate).   

In doing so, the review acknowledged that a fuller impact assessment would be needed for 

headline viability of each approach, and that amalgamation of these discussions with local 

clinical and other stakeholder opinions would be necessary in considering an agreed way 

forward. 

Professor Richards also worked with patient representatives from the Steering Group to 

confirm that the priority, from a lay perspective, was to expand access to chemotherapy 

services locally, if necessary, in precedence to the role of acute oncology.   

This was a key change in the design of the programme, which had previously focussed on the 

importance of the infrastructure for acute oncology.  The recommendations from the review 

also identified several other key considerations for patients including travel and access; 

information signposting, access, and support; providing for the wider needs of patients beyond 

medical review; and ongoing engagement.  The review of Professor Richards will be published 

alongside other programme engagement materials and outputs. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 70



17 
 

 

 

 

 

 

6 Developing and assessing the options for change 

The Steering Group reviewed Professor Richards report to consider if, in principle, they agreed 

with how the available long-list of options had been developed.  The Steering Group involved 

patient representation. 

In summary, the Steering Group agreed that: 

 Any option would need to be consistent with the design principles, to be viable. 

 

 The Steering Group would prefer to develop a preferred option for change. 

 

 The factors outlined in Professor Richards recommendations should be used to assess if 

an option could deliver the wider service change needed across NSO, including all 

identified components.   

 

 Professor Richards indication of the views of provider trusts could be considered, but this 

was not directive, as it was important to listen to the views of all stakeholders equally.   

 

 An option meeting each requirement in Professor Richards review would be considered 

viable and more engagement around the design of any viable option/s would be 

needed. 

 

 The demarcation of options, specifically which trusts had an inpatient acute oncology 

service overseen directly by consultant oncologists was the relevant differentiating 

factor.  Provision of local treatment for cancers of intermediate incidence was also a factor. 

 

 The patient consideration of the accessibility of chemotherapy and supportive services 

should guide the development of any preferred option.  Specifically, it was important that 

the preferred option improved access to care overall; delivered more care closer to 

home; improved wrap-around support access for patients; and considered strongly 

factors such as travel, logistics, and patient choice wherever possible. 

 

 The NHS England service reconfiguration tests would also need to be applied to the 

scheme11. Specifically, these tests are i) strong public and patient engagement; ii) 

consistency with current and prospective need for patient choice; iii) a clear clinical 

evidence base; and iv) support for proposals from clinical commissioners.  The fifth test 

relating to reductions in inpatient bed base numbers would not apply to any option, 

                                                           
11 Effective_service_change_toolkit_FINAL.pdf (eoesenate.nhs.uk) 

Page 71

https://www.eoesenate.nhs.uk/files/9314/0862/2233/Effective_service_change_toolkit_FINAL.pdf


18 
 

because the consideration was the staffing provision for an inpatient capacity unit, as 

opposed to the provision of a unit of inpatient capacity itself. 

Long-list of options 

Based on the above, the Steering Group concurred that: 

 Professor Richards had developed a long list of options. 

 

 Professor Richards’ rationale for excluding any option as clinically viable which featured 

either three or more providers with care delivered by consultant medical oncologists in an 

inpatient setting was realistic and reasonable. 

 

 This meant that the status quo option and status quo ante provision, from the long list were 

both not clinically viable.  This meant that they could not be presented to stakeholders as 

representing a viable choice, however this decision-making would remain under review 

were the workforce availability and other considerations rendering them not to be viable to 

change during option development, engagement, and subsequent implementation. 

Short-list of options: 

Stage 1: 

To develop a short-list of options, the NHS England service reconfiguration tests were applied 

and a series of additional assessments undertaken.   

These assessments considered equally the potential site option for the second inpatient facility 

against the following: 

1 Infrastructure and affordability:  The established estate infrastructure to host the 

inpatient facility at that site, without incurring capital expenditure, which was not accessible 

to the programme as a revenue-only scheme, and therefore would directly fail the iv) 

support from clinical commissioners’ test. 

 

2 Travel, logistics, and health inequalities: The impact of changing existing flows to each 

provider, from the perspectives of patient travel; addressing health inequalities.  Any option 

which created a net increase in patient travel time, overall, balancing acute oncology and 

chemotherapy (and outpatient) attendances would directly fail the ii) consistency with 

patient choice test  

 

3 Clinical support: Maintaining access to the residual consultant workforce and willingness 

to support the change as a factor under iii) a clear clinical evidence base. 

 

4 Views from patients: Patient engagement returns so far (reference the work so far on test 

i). 

These assessments concluded that the only viable second inpatient base would be based at 

Calderdale and Huddersfield NHS Foundation Trust, with an option to deliver this capacity at 

either Huddersfield, or Halifax, depending on the outcome of wider reconfigurations at the site.  

Other options were discounted based on considerations of established estate infrastructure 

and maintaining access to the residual consultant workforce.   

Page 72



19 
 

Stage 2  

With the preferred site identified, and being limited to a single option, the second phase of 

short-listing considered how would the networked care model be established.  This approach 

recognised that the “boundary lines” for where patients would be referred to Leeds or 

Calderdale in the eventuality of them requiring specialist inpatient acute oncology infrastructure 

could be developed in more than one way.  This also included splitting the Trust catchment 

populations, which were excluded for patient safety reasons.  The question here was to 

establish if more than one sub-variant was viable and if so, which sub-variant was preferable.  

The identification of sub-variants included development of networked care sector population 

sizes and prevailing levels of consultant level support for each tumour group.   

The questions asked at this stage of assessment were as follows: 

 Clinical support: Which option/s would be likely to have the most significant clinical 

support overall, recognising that any further reductions or fragilities established in the 

consultant oncologist provision would undermine the model as a whole? 

 

 Travel and Health Inequalities: Which option/s would mitigate the risk of extended travel 

to the demographic group in West Yorkshire experiencing the most significant health 

inequalities, overall? 

 

 Adjacencies: Which option/s would be consistent with the provision of infrastructure such 

as multi-disciplinary team structures; surgical oncology; and haemato-oncology, as 

essential adjacencies? 

The programme team assessed that:  

 An option which featured an organisational pairing between the clinical teams of Bradford 

and Calderdale was unlikely to be attractive, based on the stated expectations of each, and 

considerations around job plans, travel, and retention.   

 

 An option involving a pairing between Bradford and Calderdale was also likely to lead to 

incidental changes to MDT arrangements and surgical oncology provision which were both 

out of scope, and further unlikely to attract stakeholder support, including from patients. 

 

 An option which would involve extended travel for the population of the City of Bradford 

would unlikely be acceptable on the grounds of test iv) given that health outcomes for that 

population are worst and rates of emergency presentation are significant.  Travel times and 

access routes appeared to be prohibitive, particularly in relative terms. 

The programme team advanced this assessment to the Steering Group.  The Steering Group 

concluded that the programme team assessment of the sub-variants was reasonable.  

Therefore, the short-list was reduced to one option.  The shortlisted option was checked 

against the initial criteria/objectives set by Professor Richards and proceeded to be the 

preferred option on this basis.   

The summary report profiling the development of this preferred option was submitted at the 

end of the year 2021/2022 and agreed by WYAAT leaders in April 2022.  This process 

determined: 

Page 73



20 
 

 That the inferences and assimilations drawn from Professor Richards’ report were 

reasonable. 

 

 That a series of options had been properly considered. 

 

 That a preferred option should be developed for implementation purposes, subject to the 

need to ensure full consistency with engagement outcomes. 

Specifically, the report was considered by the sub-committees of the WYAAT Committee in 

Common; the NSO Steering Group (now Delivery Group); the Cancer Alliance Programme 

Board; and the ICB Transformation Committee as the formal decision-making authority.  For 

confirmation, the summary report aligned with the view of internal stakeholders that delivering 

no change was not viable as an option and therefore could not be presented for comparative 

purposes.  

The Option Developed 

The proposed West Yorkshire model is still unique nationally, however nuances the strong 

commitment to locally organised care delivery with the realities of needing to create 

sustainable workforce and care delivery models.  The model operates on a two-sector 

networked care basis, with a division of the population between the North and the South of 

West Yorkshire.   

Specifically, and permitting for patient choice, the provisions are that the typical catchment 

population of the City of Leeds, Airedale, Bradford District and Craven, and Harrogate, would 

be managed via the inpatient facility in Leeds where the care requirement is highly complex 

and requires the direct oversight of consultant oncologists.  Relating to the established service 

at Bradford Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, this model would be developed on a 

phased basis, permitting the necessary development of resources to manage this structure in 

acute medicine and also considering the physical capacity needed in the North sector. 

The residents of North and South Kirklees, Wakefield and District, who typically attend a site at 

Mid Yorkshire Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust or Calderdale and Huddersfield NHS 

Foundation Trust would use the latter provision in similar circumstances.   

The main aims of the model are to: 

 Join up services between hospitals across West Yorkshire and Harrogate to deliver 

services which are resilient, using a sector-based networked care model. 

 

 Organise care which is accessible and of the highest quality at all locations.  

 

 Make the best use of available resources. 

 

 Prioritise those aspects of the NSO services for local delivery which have been identified, 

by patients, as being the most important to them. 

 

 Create the conditions for workforce development, innovation, and sustainability, but also 

the environment which will be attractive to new entrants in a competitive job market space. 

 

Page 74



21 
 

In practice, what this would mean for patients is:  

 

When they are acutely unwell: 

 

o All patients to have access to a properly staffed 24-hour acute hotline. 

 

o Patients to be maintained at home with follow-up where possible, with an outpatient 

appointment or assessment by an acute oncology team if required.  

 

o For those who are very unwell, patients would be admitted, with the significant majority of 

those remaining at their local hospital, under the care of specialist disease/ area specific 

teams (colorectal, respiratory, urology, etc.) or acute medicine. 

 

o For those patients needing oncology input, they would be transferred to oncology inpatient 

beds, currently in Calderdale in the south sector and Leeds in the North.  Assessing the 

exact impact of this change is challenging, although the numbers are agreed to be small 

and projected to reflect less than 10% of the treatment activity.  The number of spells in 

such cases will be significantly smaller than repatriated chemotherapy delivery.  There is 

expansion of the Calderdale beds, due to be completed in early 2024, to accommodate the 

Mid Yorkshire patients currently being admitted to Leeds. We are currently discussing how 

this could be consolidated in the North, using a phased implementation approach. 

 

o Patients with rarer cancers or needing specialist input would continue to be admitted to 

Leeds Cancer Centre, reflecting the essentials of clinical safety and the aspect of the model 

endorsed both by the Richards report and the Steering Group. 

When they are having cancer drug treatment 

o All patients will be able to access routine cancer drug treatment for the four most common 

cancers (Breast, Colorectal, Lung and Prostate) at their local hospital, or via mobile 

facilities where available. We will maximise the use of oral chemotherapy where clinically 

appropriate. Across West Yorkshire we deliver approximately 20,000 cancer drug 

treatments of which 70% are for the four common cancers. 

 

o We will work to enhance the access to clinical trials closer to home, in conjunction with our 

current research centres in Leeds and Calderdale. We hope that this would begin to 

improve the opportunity for patients, particularly in Mid Yorkshire and Bradford, to access 

research treatments locally. In 2022/23 there were 7,953 patients participating in research 

via Leeds, with only 44 research patients at Bradford and 18 in Mid Yorkshire.  There is an 

opportunity to extend this significantly. 

 

o We will explore the options for most suitable patients with intermediate and rarer cancers to 

have their treatment locally, where the anti-cancer drug treatment is not complex, and it is 

clinically appropriate. This could mean six to twelve less visits to Leeds for each patient we 

can achieve that for.  30% of patients have a cancer which is of intermediate to rare 

incidence, so the reduced number of extended travel visits may be possible to reduce by 

several thousand a year.   

 

Page 75



22 
 

o Considerable work has taken place to develop the operating model so that it provides 

improved access for patients, continues to ensure safe care, and ensure that 

quality/performance standards can be met.  

 

o There is a focus on safety and sustainability, building on existing work and service, and 

ensuring that staff health and wellbeing is protected.   

 

 

To support the model, we have formed a North and South Sector delivery and oversight 

infrastructure for the NSO programme: 

North Sector 

This is a proposed collaboration between LTHT, Bradford Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation 

Trust (BTHFT), Airedale NHS Foundation Trust (ANHSFT) and Harrogate and District NHS 

Foundation Trust (HDFT).  Under the proposed model, LTHT will remain as the designated 

Cancer Centre, delivering an acute oncology service and dedicated oncology inpatient beds, 

outpatients’ and day case chemotherapy. It will also continue to deliver radiotherapy and 

patient management for the rarest cancers for patients across West Yorkshire and Harrogate. 

 

BTHFT, ANHSFT, and HDFT will continue to provide an acute oncology service and outpatient 

and day case chemotherapy for, as a minimum, the four most common cancers (breast, 

colorectal, lung and prostate).  The arrangements for the North Sector have been developed in 

collaborative and externally facilitated Targeted Operating Model sessions, using a three-step 

approach. 

 

These sessions have drawn together large teams of staff from each organisation and across 

each discipline, ensuring that the mechanics of the model have listened to staff feedback and 

perspective.  The sessions have been highly successful and well received.  The sessions have 

led to improvements in the management of the model including: 

 

South Sector  

The South Sector delivery of the model is proposed as a partnership between CHFT and The 

Mid Yorkshire Teaching NHS Trust (MYTT). 

 

Under the proposed model, CHFT will be the lead provider, delivering an acute oncology 

service and dedicated oncology inpatient beds, outpatients, and day case chemotherapy. 

MYTT will continue to provide an acute oncology service and outpatient and day case 

chemotherapy for, as a minimum, the four most common cancers.  Both Trusts will remain in 

partnership with the Leeds Cancer Centre, where all radiotherapy will continue to be delivered, 

alongside patient management for the rarest cancers. 

 

The arrangements for the South Sector have been developed in collaborative and externally 

facilitated Targeted Operating Model sessions, using a three-step approach.   

 

These sessions have drawn together large teams of staff from each organisation and across 

each discipline, ensuring that the mechanics of the model have listened to staff feedback and 

perspective.  The sessions have been highly successful and well received. 

Page 76



23 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7 The use of clinical, patient, and public engagement processes to establish 

resonance and sentiment to the proposals for improvement of the service, based on the 

new model. 

 

With the preferred model developed, the programme has developed a significant process of 

staff, patient, and other stakeholder engagement activities.  The programme has a defined 

communications and engagement delivery group and an external communications strategy 

group, the Patient Experience Strategy and Improvement Group (PESIG), which has approved 

and held the engagement approach to account. 

 

Public Engagement 

 

The public engagement approach has focussed on a two-pronged strategy.  The first prong of 

the strategy has been to compare public resonance and sentiment towards the proposals 

with the views of cancer patients who have informed and co-produced the option, via the 

Steering Group, Cancer Alliance Board, Patient Experience Strategy and Improvement Group, 

Patient Panel, and through other means.   

 

This approach has recognised that to be representative of public feedback, it is important that 

the programme engages with both current and prospective users of non-surgical oncology 

services.   

 

The second prong to the strategy has been to secure representative engagement, meaning 

that we can identify sentiment and resonance towards the proposals from geographical 

communities affected, alongside the protected characteristic groups set out in the Equality Act.   

 

A full communications and engagement strategy describes the approach taken, including the 

use of in-person and online focus groups; market research; and digital engagement.  Focus 

groups have been promoted via partners such as Healthwatch and have used hard copy 

collateral to support delivery. 

 

To be effective, we have sought to ensure that: 

 

 A comprehensive approach is taken. 

 That the approach is geographically representative. 

 That the approach is representative of seldom heard communities. 

 The results of the engagement impact on the design and further development of the option. 

 

Page 77



24 
 

Alongside the above, we continue to work with our patient groups as well as attending place 

based and ICB meetings. We have received positive support for the way we have approached 

this work to date from the West Yorkshire ICB Transformation committee. We are due to report 

to the West Yorkshire Joint Health Oversight and Scrutiny Committee (JOSC) in January 2024. 

Further communication and involvement work will be undertaken as plans develop and will be 

regularly updated.  More detail of our engagement work to date is available in Appendix 1. 

 

1st phase of public engagement: 

 

Within this two-pronged strategy, we have undertaken two phases of engagement.  The first 

phase of engagement, focussing on an approach of inclusive listening, has considered the 

following: 

 

 Has the preferred model taken account of what matters most to people? 

 What haven’t we thought of? 

 How can we improve our ideas? 

 

A series of nine community based public engagement events across West Yorkshire and 

Harrogate was completed across summer 2023.  The inclusive listening phase of engagement 

consisted of face-to-face events at the following community locations between July and 

September 2023  

 

 Wakefield - St Swithuns Centre, Eastmoor 

 Bradford - The Thornbury Centre 

 Kirklees – Birstall Community Centre 

 Harrogate – Oatlands Community Centre 

 Calderdale - Brighouse Library 

 Leeds - Hamara Centre, Beeston 

 Skipton Town Hall 

 

Two online sessions, via Zoom, were also held in August 2023 to provide access to those 

unable to attend the face-to-face events.  

 

2nd phase of public engagement: 

 

The second phase (in Winter 2023/24) is linked to the theme of addressing gaps and 

reporting back and will undertake additional sessions / market research to address those 

groups and geographical areas not yet represented. Information on underrepresented groups 

and planned activities to address gaps is provided at Appendix 1. 

This phase of engagement focusses on: 

 Checking that what we have heard feels representative of the communities affected by the 

proposals and their diverse views and perspectives. 

 Explaining what improvements, we have made to the proposals arising from the feedback 

received. 

 Finding out what matters most as we progress. 

 Considering and responding to the views of formal decision-makers. 

Page 78



25 
 

 

The final outputs of the engagement processes are being prepared.  The outcomes of the 

phases will be shared with the programme governance infrastructure, the JHOSC and the ICB 

Transformation Committee to make a formal decision about how to proceed. 

 

Additionally, the second phase of the engagement has presented back to representative 

groups what we have heard from the initial phase and the changes made to arrangements as a 

result.  The intention behind the engagement has been to address:  

 

 Whether or not strong public and patient support for the proposals can be evidenced. 

 If significant option review or formal consultative process (on a statutory basis) may be 

required to ensure that the commissioning authority undertakes conscientious 

consideration of its involvement duties. 

 

Specifically, this will also include an assessment of the five tests for service reconfiguration, 

equivalent to stage 1 of the NHS England process and engagement with that body. This will 

determine if full adoption of stage 2 of the process is likely to be considered necessary in the 

circumstances of the changes proposed.  

Clinical Staff Engagement 

 

Clinical staff engagement has occurred via a wide variety of means including newsletters; 

briefing visits and meetings at local trusts; engagement with primary care clinicians via locality 

groups and other means; and the creation of seminar activities through the Targeted Operating 

Model groups for the North and South Sector.  These sessions have taken a fixed approach 

encouraging the development of a shared vision for the sector; the development of a gap 

analysis; and the creation of shared action plans to resolve the gaps.  The sessions have been 

attended by more than sixty colleagues involved in care delivery.   

 

They have resulted in improvements as follows: 

 

 Bridging and building relationships between clinical teams. 

 Developing opportunities for workforce innovation and sharing of clinical protocols and best 

practice. 

 Agreeing a common system for electronic prescribing. 

 Developing protocols for the management of outpatient activity and patient information. 

 Ensuring provision of improved supportive care and holistic needs arrangements. 

 What are the infrastructure, staffing, and other gaps needing to be fulfilled to create service 

sustainability? 

 Determining how will the acute oncology service hotline work best? 

 

Other staff engagement: 

 

Staff and members of the Cancer Alliance have been engaged in the project from the outset 

and were a key part of the external expert review. They continue to receive updates and 

opportunities to influence and become involved as the model is developed and refined.  

 

The NSO System Delivery Group is constituted by senior members of each Trust, a patient 

Page 79



26 
 

advocate, who was also a member of the Cancer Alliance panel and is chaired by the CEO of 

MYTT.  Staff in all cancer units and the Cancer Centre have been involved in the development 

of the future operating models through a series of clinical workshops in each sector.  This has 

also included briefing and co-working with staff-side groups. 

 

The Cancer Alliance has provided funding to support system engagement and solution design 

to both sectors, including dedicated clinical and corporate leadership capacity. 

 

8 The improvement and refinement of the new model based on engagement 

outcomes. 

The engagement outcomes with the different stakeholder groups have identified several 

improvements which could be made to the model, within the established parameters.  Some of 

these features are listed below. 

International recruitment 

 

Our engagement processes with clinical staff have identified that increasing and diversifying 

workforce supply remains crucial to enabling any option to work.  For this reason, we have 

focussed on supporting international recruitment efforts, with a view to maintaining and 

enhancing service sustainability across both sectors. 

 

In this vein, we continue to work with NHS England Workforce, Training & Education (formerly 

Health Education England) and our local leaders to try and progress our international recruitment 

efforts. The sponsorship route to GMC registration for potential candidates at consultant level is 

proving to be more complicated than anticipated, so we are looking at a range of levels of 

engagement and international supply, including trainee level.  We are also continuing to 

collaborate with our colleagues in NHS North-East and Yorkshire region. 

 

Systemic Anti-cancer prescribing system  

 

Our engagement processes with clinical staff identified that the lack of a shared interface for 

SACT prescribing would make the implementation of any networked care model, on a sector 

basis, more challenging.  For this reason, the programme has prioritised the assessment/ 

procurement process is continuing across all six Trusts, with the aim to have all Trusts on the 

same version of the same system being used in the same way.  This model will better support 

ease of transfer of patients, efficient pharmacy working and closer collaboration in service 

delivery between hospitals. Systems assessment is now planned for April 2024. 

 

Finance, Contracting and Commissioning 

 

Our engagement processes with corporate teams have established that to establish the 

networked care model effectively, it is necessary to understand the hosting of current costs in 

more detail and how implementation costings may be delivered.  For this reason, two working 

groups have been established to support the NSO programme: 

 

 A finance, contracting and commissioning group that will lead on engaging with partner 

organisations to firstly agree and secondly approve the business case.  

Page 80



27 
 

 A finance technical group that will be responsible for developing the financial model to 

ensure that the proposed operating models are financially sustainable.  

 

We are also developing the timeline and information required for the supporting NSO financial 

business case, alongside proposed implementation phasing. 

 

Electronic Patient Reported Outcomes (EPROMS) 

 

Our engagement processes with clinical staff and referring back to the report of Professor 

Richards indicated that investment in EPROMS would be helpful.  The sector teams therefore 

developed a successful bid for Innovation monies to support the further development of 

EPROMS remote monitoring systems across both sectors. This will enable us to continue our 

focus on supporting patients through their chemotherapy journey. Pilots of this work continue in 

Mid Yorkshire with the North Sector pilot beginning work at this stage. 

 

Pathway work 

 

Our engagement work with clinical staff identified the need to work more closely on mapping 

pathways, at an operational level, to ensure that unwarranted clinical variation was managed 

within pathway settings.  For this reason, the existing pathways for Breast and Acute Oncology 

have been mapped in both sectors.  

 

We have identified variations, workforce innovation and opportunities to further develop these 

pathways to maximise available workforce. The next stage is to refine the future model with 

identified competency requirements for each stage, aligned to the Aspirant Cancer Career and 

Education Development (ACCEND) and relevant pathway and professional specific frameworks, 

such as the UK Oncology Nursing Society (UKONS).  

 

We will then continue to scope training and education provision to support those requirements 

and address any gaps. Our aim will be to support patients getting the right care by the right 

people at the right time. 

 

Capacity and Demand 

 

Our engagement work with clinical teams identified the need to address further the capacity 

requirements for the delivery of SACT in day unit settings.  This specifically reviews the physical 

and staffing and infrastructure requirements for the delivery of chemotherapy, in ways which 

maximise patient choice; ensure the delivery of chemotherapy in accordance with cancer waiting 

times; optimise patient experience; and enable the system to supply access to newly emergent 

therapies from NICE, for system-wide patient benefit. 

 

Linked to the above, we have launched a system wide capacity and demand piece of work 

involving all of our West Yorkshire chemotherapy services who have agreed to use the same 

tool, to allow a comparable baseline of capacity to be established. This tool has been used by 

the Wessex Cancer Alliance and we will be learning from them in order to help us model future 

demand and support the development and costing of our future services and workforce. 

 

Sector-Based Improvements from engagement 

Page 81



28 
 

 

South: 

 

Our engagement processes with clinical staff and the completion of the Targeted Operating 

Model sessions have enabled us to invest in a full programme delivery team.  The programme 

delivery team is focussing on: 

 

 Having a single dedicated Acute oncology phone line across the sector.  

 Increasing the capacity within the Calderdale and Huddersfield NHS Foundation Trust 

Oncology inpatient bed base.  

 Developing governance arrangements across the joint service.  

 Further developing their non-medical workforce including aligning policies and protocols for 

the delivery of chemotherapy. 

 

North  

 

Our engagement processes with clinical staff and the completion of the Targeted Operating 

Model sessions have enabled us to invest in a full programme delivery team.  The programme 

delivery team is focussing on: 

 

 Developing governance arrangements across the Trusts who are part of the service. 

 Developing improvement group arrangements for SACT. 

 Developing improvement group arrangements for the delivery of outpatient care. 

 Developing a shared approach to the implementation of a shared acute oncology helpline 

and the assessment service. 

 

Engagement Outcomes – Patient and Public 

 

As a summary, we have learnt from patient and public engagement that what matters the most 

is as follows: 

 

To have information about the proposed improvements to care.  For this reason, we have 

publicised details of the improvements on the Cancer Alliance website and have also made 

information about the improvements available via each Trust. 

 

We have also heard that access to, and support from, primary care is a key consideration for 

patients.  For these reasons, we have continued to expedite work looking at the development of 

cancer care reviews by GPs; have piloted access to self-referral routes; have established a GP 

forum, led by the Cancer Alliance, to enable greater prominence about the proposed 

improvements and engagement opportunities with primary care clinicians.  We have also 

supported work being developed across the wider ICB, reviewing functions such as improved 

telephony access for making appointments.  We have also worked with our partners to promote 

the available streams of access and support for patients via a range of Macmillan Information 

and Support centres; dedicated helplines for advice and support; and have also used the 

National Cancer Patient Experience Survey (NCPES) to review areas for improvement from each 

Trust’s returns, based on the work of the PESIG. 

 

Page 82



29 
 

We have also heard that transport, travel, and access, is a key issue.  We have heard that 

most people expect to receive their diagnostic and treatment care in their local hospital wherever 

safe and practical.  This has remained central to the development of the preferred option.   

 

We have also heard that most people accept that Cancer Centres will deliver the most complex 

treatment and support for patients and that travel to a Cancer Centre is necessary for this 

purpose.  Most people also understand that if a patient is very seriously unwell, they may need 

to be offered specialist care in such a unit.  The impact of this has been mitigated by making the 

initial access point for support being the patient’s local hospital in almost all cases; by creating 

managed transfers to specialist units where required (often by ambulance); and by examining 

methods of creating supported travel choices where needed.  This has involved reviewing 

dispensatory travel passes; making accessible information about travel grants and financial 

support; and working with Trusts to ensure that secondary costs are properly managed, such as 

car parking.  We have heard that making these improvements will make a positive difference to 

reducing health inequalities as patients will benefit more universally from support for care 

delivered as part of research and clinical trials; and complex inpatient care will be of the same 

high standard, where needed, irrespective of the access point in West Yorkshire. 

 

We have also heard that choice is a key consideration and sometimes patients will elect to 

choose a hospital at the start of their pathway and may indicate a preference around where their 

treatment and support will take place.  These features have remained central to the preparation 

of the option and we have reviewed how the infrastructure processes can support this, for 

example common electronic prescribing systems, EPROMS, information sharing protocols, and 

protocols for the management of outpatient care.  This has also promoted continuity of care, 

which we heard was also important to patients. 

 

We have heard that having access to outpatient and chemotherapy care locally matters and 

that the barriers experienced by people in relation to transport can be significant, particularly 

those from low-income backgrounds or without access to private car transport within the 

household unit.  In this respect, public resonance to the proposals has broadly reflected that of 

existing cancer patients.  Therefore, the capacity and demand profiling will protect access to 

chemotherapy delivery departments and locally, services work with patients to provide choice 

around appointment times wherever possible.  Patients have access to pre-treatment 

consultations; allocated specialist nurses/key workers; and specific, tailored information about 

their chemotherapy treatment, side effects, and what to do in case of an emergency.   

 

Services have also reviewed the set-up of chemotherapy delivery from the perspective of patient 

experience considerations which matter to people, such as allowing patients to be accompanied 

to their appointments; providing access to comfortable seating; providing food and drink; and 

supporting patients to access amenities during long appointments.  Many of these considerations 

arise from the NCPES.   

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 83



30 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

9 Engagement outcomes – new model 

 

Overall, our engagement outcomes to date, recognising that the full report and completion of 

process is necessary, indicate a strong level of public, patient, and other partner support for the 

proposals.   

 

The proposals have been strengthened by co-design features from the outset, including the 

identification of the problem statement and case for change; the development of a clinical vision 

and new model of care; consideration of the available options for change; and detailed 

consideration and improvement within the implementation phase.   

 

The proposals appear to be well supported both on a geographical basis, and on the basis of 

representative groups.  It appears to be well accepted that the option developed will result in 

improved access, experience, and quality of care delivered to patients.  

 

To support application of the NHS England service reconfiguration tests, NHS England has also 

published a framework to support their level of involvement and oversight with schemes of this 

nature.  A copy of the framework is shown below. 

 

 

Page 84



31 
 

 

In this case, the scale of the proposed change and geographical are larger because it effects 

the entirety of the West Yorkshire and Harrogate delivery system. 

 

The financial implications of the scheme are more minor because the options rely on existing 

revenue and capital funding.  Where revenue funds have been identified or will be further 

identified as part of the finance and contracting sub-group, these have been offset by making 

financial improvements – for example encouraging workforce innovation and improvements to 

vacancies will reduce agency pay rates.  Implementation costs have been separately financed 

and so are less relevant to solution design. 

 

The profile of these service lines is higher, although feedback from patients and public suggest 

that their key consideration is the delivery of chemotherapy and outpatient care for cancer, as 

opposed to unusual scenarios where complex acute oncology care is needed. 

 

The consensus on the case for change is stronger.  There appears to be unanimity of opinion 

that no change or reverting to the status quo ante position is viable.  There is also a strong 

consensus between the clinical, external clinical review, and patient and public engagement 

outcomes, all of which are consistent with the preferred option identified, and the improvements 

made to that preferred option during the design and developmental phases of the work. 

 

The range of organisations directly involved in the service is relatively narrow and established 

arrangements for collaboration already exist.  The design of the proposals and governance 

arrangements have ensured that a consensus between the organisations has emerged and that 

the decision-making functions are effective. 

 

The scoping arrangements for the proposals and their consistency with the application of the 

engagement outcomes and tests for reconfiguration mean that the impact on directly 

commissioned services by NHS England are minor. 

 

The application of the model against the applicable service reconfiguration tests from NHS 

England suggest that: 

 

 The model identified continues to have a clear, clinically led, evidence base. 

 The model identified is consistent with current and prospective need for patient choice. 

 The model identified is supported by clinical commissioners. 

 The model identified has been supported through strong patient and public engagement, 

commensurate with the scope and profile of the proposals being undertaken. 

 The inpatient bed test does not apply to this scheme. 

 

Linked to the above, the NHS England service reconfiguration guidance about these proposals 

has been considered; regular updates have been provided to NHS England; and the approval 

from NHS England to proceed on these grounds will be sought.  

 

It is also assessed that, in the context of the scheme, and subject to the ongoing outputs of 

engagement work; and the wider preparation and publication of modelling activities; that the ICB 

Transformation Committee are unlikely to assess that the costs and time-based impacts of 

Page 85



32 
 

statutory public consultation processes for this scheme are warranted in the circumstances of 

non-surgical oncology.  To be clear, this decision will be taken formally and separately, linked 

also to scrutiny processes, and this represents an indication of the possible direction of travel. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 86



33 
 

Appendix 1 

Summary of current reach of inclusive listening phase of public engagement and 

planned activities in phase 2 

The reach of phase 1 was measured by comparing the proportion of people with statutorily 

protected characteristics around sex, religious beliefs, carers, age, disability, sexuality, gender 

reassignment and pregnancy/breastfeeding engaged with as compared to the proportion in the 

general population, as per 2021 census data. The programme also monitored whether the 

inclusive listening phase had reached groups at risk of health inequalities and whether all 

geographies had been equitably represented.  

As at end of 2023 the reach of the engagement programme, by protected characteristic was as 

shown below. Each was RAG rated to indicate level of assurance of reach. 

1. Protected characteristic of sex - RAG GREEN  Sufficiently representative of WY&H 

population 

Attendees were asked to describe their gender.  

Sex Population WY&H No of Engagement Attendees % of Attendees 

F 51.1% 45 58.4% 

M 48.9% 31 40.3% 

Other 
Not an option in 
Census question 

1 1.3% 

 

2. Protected characteristic of religious beliefs - RAG GREEN – Sufficiently representative of 

WY&H population 

Religious Belief Pop WY&H Engagement Attendees 

No religion 36.7% 29.9% 

Christian 46.3% 35.1% 

Buddhist 0.5% 1.3% 

Hindu 1.8% 6.5% 

Jewish 0.5% 1.3% 

Muslim 6.7% 22.1% 

Sikh 0.9% 1.3% 

Other religion 0.6% 0.0% 

Not answered 6.0% 2.6% 

 

3. Protected characteristic of carer status - RAG GREEN – Sufficiently representative of 

WY&H population 
 

Population WY&H Engagement Attendees 

Provider of care 8.7% 28.6% 

Not a provider of care 91.3% 70.1% 

Not Answered - 1.3% 

 

 

Page 87



34 
 

4. Protected characteristic of age - RAG GREEN – Sufficiently representative of WY&H 

population 

Only the population aged 25+ was considered as teen and young adult cancers are outside the 

scope of the NSO programme 

Age Group Pop WY&H12 Attendees Adult incidence 

25-49 47.3% 24.7% 9.3% 

50-64 27.4% 26.0% 24.5% 

65-79 18.6% 45.5% 43.9% 

80+ 6.7% 1.3% 22.2% 

Did not answer 0.0% 1.3% - 

 

Although the 80+ group were under-represented in our sample that might be expected, given 

that age and/or infirmity might be a barrier to that age group choosing to participate in public 

engagement activity. There is additional planned activity which will target the older population 

living in assisted living schemes.  

5. Protected characteristic of disability - RAG GREEN – Sufficiently representative of WY&H 

population 
 

Pop WY&H Engagement Attendees 

Self-certified as disabled 17.3% 37.7% 

Did NOT self-certify as disabled 82.7% 59.7% 

Did not answer 
 

2.6% 

 

6. Protected characteristic of sexual orientation - RAG GREEN – Sufficiently representative 

of WY&H population 
 

Pop England Engagement Attendees 

Heterosexual 89.4% 77.9% 

Gay or Lesbian 1.5% 3.9% 

Did not respond 7.5% 13.0% 

Bisexual 1.3% 3.9% 

Other 0.3% 1.3% 

 

7. Protected characteristic of gender reassignment - RAG GREEN – Sufficiently 

representative of WY&H population 
 

Pop 
England13 

Engagement 
Attendees 

Gender identity is same as assigned at birth 93.5% 97.4% 

Gender identity is not the same as assigned at 
birth 

0.5% 2.6% 

Did not answer 6.0% 0.0% 

                                                           
12 Proportional split of population aged 25+ 
13 Data source https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/2021-census-what-do-we-know-about-the-lgbt-population/  

Page 88

https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/2021-census-what-do-we-know-about-the-lgbt-population/


35 
 

 

8. Protected characteristic of pregnancy/ breastfeeding - RAG RED – Not representative of 

WY&H but plans in place to mitigate to a GREEN rating 
 

Pop WY&H14 Engagement Attendees 

Pregnant or breast feeding 1.1% 0.0% 

Not pregnant or breast feeding 99.0% 98.7% 

Did not answer 0.0% 1.3% 

 

9. Geographic coverage - RAG RED – Not representative of WY&H but plans in place to 

mitigate to a GREEN rating 

Table below evidences that the geographical spread of our attendees does not represent 

WY&H as a whole. The most significant underrepresentation was from the city of Bradford, with 

many attendees from BD postcodes being residents of towns around the city such as Bingley, 

Cleckheaton, Skipton and Birstall. 

Postcode area 201115 Population % of WY&H population 
% of attendees from 

postcode area16 

BD 578,336 23.8% 11.1% 

HD 262,814 10.8% 8.3% 

HG 138,343 5.7% 1.4% 

HX 160,378 6.6% 1.4% 

LS 774,180 31.9% 51.4% 

WF 512,657 21.1% 26.4% 

Grand Total 2,426,708 100.0% 100.0% 

 

To address the current imbalance a market research company has been commissioned to 

undertake 500 further street surveys. The distribution of these will be proportionate to the 

population of each place 

10. Groups at risk of health inequalities RAG AMBER – More work required in phase 2 to 

mitigate 

RAG rating summary 

Characteristic RAG Rating 

Place of Residence  

Pregnancy and breast feeding  

Groups a risk of health inequality  

Sex  

Religious Beliefs  

Carer Status  

                                                           
14 There were 27218 births in WY&H in 2022. This is taken as a proxy for the total number of persons pregnant or 
breast feeding. 
15 Office of National Statistics did not release a ‘population by postcode’ dataset from the 2021 census return 
16 Excluded from the data set are two attendees, representing third sector organisations, who provided a 
postcode from outside of the WYAAT catchment 

Page 89



36 
 

Age  

Gender Reassignment  

Sexuality  

Disability Status  

 

 

  

Page 90



37 
 

Phase 2 public engagement activities 

The first step in phase 2 of engagement is to undertake additional activities to address those 

groups and geographical areas not yet represented. Activities planned or proposed in this step 

are described below.  

Group / 

Characteristic 

Activity planned Status 

Place of 

residence 

500 field interviews undertaken across all place 

and trust boundaries 

Work 

commissioned 

through private 

sector provider. To 

be completed 

Jan/Feb 2024 

Pregnancy/ 

breast feeding 

Digital version of market research survey to be 

forwarded to members of a local maternity group 

Agreed with 

facilitator of maternity 

group 

Risk of health 

inequalities – 

military 

veterans 

Programme to address breakfast meeting of local 

veterans’ group 

Still at planning 

stage with group 

facilitator 

Risk of health 

inequalities – 

residents of 

assisted living 

schemes 

Event in communal lounge of a scheme in South 

Elmsall 

Agreed with landlord 

and residents. To be 

delivered January 

2024 

Risk of health 

inequalities – 

Gypsy and 

traveller 

community 

Engagement event at offices of LeedsGATE 

which will be marketed at traveller communities in 

Leeds and Bradford 

Agreed with 

LeedsGATE charity. 

Event to be delivered 

January 2024 

Risk of health 

inequalities – 

Homeless / risk 

of 

homelessness 

Discussions with a charity which supports both 

these groups, advised that access to NSO 

services was not a high priority for these groups 

and an event would not attract much interest or 

attendance.  

 

Priority health issues for these groups were 

described as mental health services, drug/alcohol 

services, access to primary care and dentistry 

Abandoned  

Not a viable line of 

enquiry Risk of health 

inequalities – 

Drug or alcohol 

dependency 

Risk of health 

inequalities – 

English not as a 

first language 

Three engagement events held: 

 Karmand Centre - Elderly day care group for 

men of south Asian origin. 

 Great Horton Library – Eastern European 

women 

 Cancer support Yorkshire – Women’s group, 

mostly of south Asian origin  

Delivered  

3 events in 

November 2024 

Page 91



38 
 

Risk of health 

inequalities – 

LGBT+ 

community 

Engagement event held at MESMAC, a charity 

promoting LGBT issue 

Delivered 

November 2023 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 92



 
West Yorkshire Joint Health Overview Scrutiny Committee 

Agenda Plan 2023/24 
 

 
16 January 2024 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 Clinical Policies 

 WY Urgent Care (service review) 

 Non-Surgical Oncology (service review) 

 
Catherine Thompson  
Jon Parnaby  
Angie Craig (Len Richards) 

 
15 March 2024 
 
 
 
 

 
                    

 Workforce 

 Prevention 

 WY Urgent Care 
 

 
 
Kate Sims (Jonathan Brown) 
Sarah Smith (Cathy Elliott) 
Jon Parnaby 

 
To be scheduled  
 
 
 

 
Dental – access issues and plans 
Strategy - including 10 ambitions progress 
 
 
 

 

 

Page 93

Agenda Item 10



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	3 Declarations of Interest
	7 Harmonisation of Commissioning Policies
	8 West Yorkshire Urgent Care - Service Review
	LCD WYUC Patient feedback

	9 Non-Surgical Oncology - Programme Update
	10 Agenda Plan 2023/24

